CONTRACT

between

WORKING AMERICA

and

WASHINGTON-BALTIMORE NEWSPAPER GUILD TNG-CWA, AFL-CIO

April 1, 2025, through September 30, 2029

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	2
ARTICLE 1: RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE 2: UNION SECURITY	4
ARTICLE 3: INFORMATION TO UNION	5
ARTICLE 4: PROBATIONARY PERIOD, DISCIPLINE, AND DISCHARGE	7
ARTICLE 5: SENIORITY	10
ARTICLE 6: HOURS	11
ARTICLE 7: INCLEMENT WEATHER AND OTHER TEMPORARY OFFICE	14
CLOSURES	
ARTICLE 8: VACATION	16
ARTICLE 9: SICK LEAVE	18
ARTICLE 10: MISCELLANEOUS LEAVES	20
ARTICLE 11: HOLIDAYS	24
ARTICLE 12: WAGES	25
ARTICLE 13: INSURANCE	27
ARTICLE 14: 401(k) PLAN	28
ARTICLE 15: EDUCATION	29
ARTICLE 16: FILLING OF VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS	30
ARTICLE 17: JOB DESCRIPTIONS	32
ARTICLE 18: PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS	33
ARTICLE 19: LAYOFFS	35
ARTICLE 20: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	38
ARTICLE 21: EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT	40
ARTICLE 22: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	41
ARTICLE 23: NO DISCRIMINATION	42
ARTICLE 24: RESPECT AND DIGNITY	43
ARTICLE 25: LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	44
ARTICLE 26: CONSULTANTS	45
ARTICLE 27: TEMPORARY AND PROJECT EMPLOYEES	46
ARTICLE 28: MISCELLANEOUS	47
ARTICLE 29: TELEWORK POLICY	49
ARTICLE 30: REMOTE WORK POLICY	50
ARTICLE 31: DURATION AND RENEWAL	51
APPENDIX A: SALARY SCHEDULE	52
APPENDIX B: DOMESTIC PARTNER DEFINITION AND REQUIREMENTS	57
APPENDIX C: TRAVEL AND EXPENSE POLICY	58
APPENDIX D: RELOCATION EXPENSE POLICY	61
APPENDIX E: WORKING AMERICA TELEWORK POLICY	64
APPENDIX F: WORKING AMERICA REMOTE WORK POLICY	68
SIDE LETTERS	71

PREAMBLE

The Agreement is between Working America, Community Affiliate of the AFL-CIO (Employer), a non-profit labor organization, and the Washington Baltimore Newspaper Guild (Union) chartered by The Newspaper Guild-Communications Workers of America as Local #32035, for itself and then on behalf of all employees described in Article 1.

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION

Section 1

a) The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive collective bargaining agent to act on behalf of the regular full-time National Office and Field employees whose positions are defined as:

Administration and Operations Department Administrative & Accounting Assistant Administrative & Accounting Associate Field Administrative Manager Field Operations Assistant Field Operations Specialist National Recruitment Specialist Payroll Assistant Payroll and Benefits Associate Payroll and Benefits Coordinator Senior Payroll & Benefits Manager Senior Payroll & Operations Coordinator

Data and Technology Department Application Administrator Assistant Data Administrator Data Assistant Information Technology Assistant Senior Data Administrator Senior Data and Analytics Manager

<u>Development Department</u> Development & Administrative Assistant Development Manager Senior Development Manager

<u>Digital / Communications Department</u> Campaign Communications Specialist Digital Assistant Digital Communications Assistant Digital Communications Associate Digital Communications Specialist Media Outreach Specialist Senior Campaign Communications Specialist Senior Digital Communications Organizer Senior Media Outreach Specialist Senior Writer Writer

<u>Executive Offices</u> Executive Administrative Assistant

<u>Field Department</u> Office Manager Office Manager (Bilingual) Senior Office Manager

Program / Political Department Organizer 1 Organizer 2 Organizer 3 Political Assistant Political Associate Program Assistant Program Associate Senior Campaign Associate Senior Campaign Manager Senior Political Associate Senior State Program Director State Program Director Research and Analytics Department Assistant Data Analyst Research & Analytics Assistant Research & Analytics Associate Research & Analytics Specialist Research & Analytics Manager Strategic Projects Coordinator

<u>Miscellaneous</u> Marketing & Outreach/Member Benefit Associate Senior Accountant Senior Systems Administrator Systems Administrator

- b) Any position that was included in the bargaining unit in a Collective Bargaining Agreement in effect on or after June 1, 2019, if reactivated, will be automatically included in the bargaining unit.
- c) If the Employer creates a new regular full-time position or a part-time position that the Union believes should be in the bargaining unit, the Employer will meet with the Union concerning inclusion of the position in the unit.
- d) The Employer and the Union agree that canvass staff (for example, Canvassers, Field Directors, Field Managers, and Trainers), managerial, supervisory, and confidential positions are not in the bargaining unit.
- e) Employer occasionally may operate a bilingual canvass project. In field offices where Employer is operating a bilingual canvass project, if the Office Manager is bilingual and has satisfied Employer's requirement for English and Spanish speaking and writing proficiency, they shall be entitled to a 10% salary increase for the duration of the bilingual canvass operation. Employer shall give the Union one (1) week verbal notice, where possible, on the start and termination of a bilingual canvass project.

Section 2

As used in this Agreement, the term "employees" refers to bargaining unit employees.

Section 3

As used in this Agreement, the term "fixed term employee" refers to a bargaining unit employee whose employment has a specified end date.

Section 4

Workers hired through a temporary agency, temporary employees, and project employees as described in Article 27 of this Agreement, and interns are not covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY

Section 1

It shall be a condition of employment that all employees of the Employer in the bargaining unit referred to in Article 1 who are members of the Union in good standing on the effective date of this Agreement shall remain members in good standing. All new employees shall on the thirty-first (31st) day following their date of hire become and remain members in good standing in the Union. The provisions of this Article shall be effective, implemented, and administered in accordance and consistent with applicable provisions of federal, District of Columbia, and state laws.

Section 2

The Employer shall, in compliance with all applicable law and on the basis of individuallysigned voluntary check-off authorization cards, deduct dues or fees equivalent to dues and assessments levied by the Union for the current month. These amounts shall be deducted from employees' wages and sent to the Union on a biweekly basis. Deductions will begin with the next full pay period following the Employer's receipt of the check-off authorization.

Section 3

The Employer shall provide for payroll deductions for COPE on behalf of employees who authorize such deductions in writing.

Section 4

The Union agrees to indemnify the Employer and hold it harmless from all claims, damages, costs, fees, or charges of any kind which may arise out of the Employer honoring deduction authorizations in accordance with the provisions of this Article, the making up of sums owed the Union in cases of inadvertent failure to timely honor authorizations, the transmitting of such deductions to the Union, and the discharging of any employee at the Union's request for failure to remain a member in good standing.

ARTICLE 3 – INFORMATION TO UNION

Section 1

The Union shall be notified of any modifications and/or changes in job classification or wage rates and of new positions that come under this Agreement.

Section 2

The Union shall be notified if an employee moves to a non-bargaining unit position.

Section 3

The Union shall be notified of any new bargaining unit hires with contact information within ten (10) business days of when an offer of employment in a bargaining unit position is accepted and background and reference checks have been completed, whenever practicable. In addition, title, classification, work location, wages, and name of supervisor and title shall be specified, as well as any changes to the above prior to the first day of employment.

Section 4

Upon request, Management shall provide to the Union the following information, where available:

- Name
- Title
- Start date
- Probation end date
- Temporary or fixed-term end date
- Job description
- Rate of pay
- Exemption status
- Work location
- Home address, phone, and email
- Date of birth
- Race or ethnicity
- Pronouns
- Supervisor name and title
- Information on new employees in bargaining unit positions and promotions, including titles, wages, exemption status, effective dates, and supervisor name and title
- Information on employees in bargaining unit positions who were transferred out of the bargaining unit or separated and effective dates

Section 5

Employer will invite and send the Unit Chairperson or the Unit Vice-Chairperson to one National Field Staff meeting held in Washington, DC or its metropolitan area each calendar year. Where no National Field Staff meeting is held in the DC metropolitan area for the calendar year, Employer shall pay the travel expenses for the Unit Chairperson or the Unit Vice-Chairperson to travel to a National Field Staff meeting in compliance with the travel policy. The Employer reserves the right to exclude the Unit Chairperson or Unit Vice-Chairperson from sessions related to personnel or labor-management issues.

ARTICLE 4 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD, DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

Section 1

- a) The probationary period for all new employees shall be six (6) months.
- b) Fixed-term employees hired to the same position on a permanent basis without a break in service shall not have a further probationary period of any length assuming the initial probationary period of six (6) months had already been served. If the employee worked less than six (6) months in the fixed-term position, the probationary period will be six (6) months, less time served in the fixed-term position.
- c) Fixed-term employees hired to a different position on a permanent basis and / or with a break in service shall have a new three (3) months probationary period, provided the employee worked at least three (3) months in the fixed-term position. If the employee worked less than three (3) months in the fixed-term position, the probationary period will be six (6) months, less time served in the fixed-term position.
- d) Full-time temporary employees working in a Working America office hired to a permanent position with the same duties in the job description as the temporary position without a break in service shall have a three (3) month probationary period, provided they worked at least three (3) months in the temporary position. If the employee worked less than three (3) months in the temporary position, the probationary period for the permanent position will be six (6) months, less time served in the temporary position.
- e) Part-time temporary employees working in a Working America office at least thirty-two (32) hours a week in a continuous three (3) month period hired to a permanent position with the same duties in the job description as the temporary position without a break in service shall serve a six (6) month probationary period, less time served in the temporary position pro-rated based on hours worked, with a minimum three (3) month probationary period.
- f) Employees who are promoted to a new bargaining unit position, or transferred to a position in a different department, shall have a new three (3) month probationary period with a right of return to their former bargaining unit position during that probationary period. At or near the completion of two (2) months in the new position, the Employer shall make the employee aware of known performance deficiencies.
 - 1. Right of return:
 - a) If the employee returns to their former bargaining unit position their probationary status will be the same as it was on the day prior to the promotion date.

- b) If the employee elects not to return to their former position, the employee waives any rights to the layoff provisions under Article 19.
- c) If the former position no longer exists, the employee has the right to a vacancy in the same classification and they waive any right to relocation expenses. Where the promotion was to a higher grade in the classification the employee will be returned to the prior grade.
- d) If such a vacancy in the former classification does not exist, the employee has the right to bump employees with less seniority in the same or lower classification provided the employee is qualified to perform the new position and they waive any right to relocation expenses. If there is no position available into which the employee can bump, the employee will receive the benefits under Article 19.

Section 2

During the probationary period, the Employer has the unlimited right to discipline or discharge the employee, and any discipline or discharge shall not be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in Article 20. At or near the completion of four (4) months of employment, the Employer shall make the employee aware of known performance deficiencies that may lead to discharge during the probationary period.

Section 3

Employees who have successfully completed their probationary period shall not be disciplined or discharged except for just cause. Except in cases warranting immediate discharge for cause, principles of progressive discipline shall be followed.

Section 4

In any investigatory meeting which might result in discipline or discharge, the employee shall be informed by the employer that they have the ability to have a steward or local union representative present. The Union will attempt to provide a representative as soon as possible, but in any event no longer than three (3) working days after notification to the Employee, unless the Employer agrees to a longer time period.

Section 5

The Employer shall copy the Unit Chairperson and Vice Unit Chairperson on any written discipline and on a discharge.

Section 6

All verbal warning letters shall be removed from employees' personnel files six (6) months after issuance. All written warning letters shall be removed from employees' personnel files twelve (12) months after issuance. Notices of disciplinary suspension shall remain in the employees' personnel files until twenty-four (24) months after issuance, and notices of discipline for sexual harassment or other conduct in violation of the Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment policy shall remain in the employee's personnel file permanently.

Section 7

Employees who have completed their probationary period who are discharged for performance deficiencies shall be given two (2) weeks' notice, or two (2) weeks' pay in lieu of notice, of any discharge. This section shall not apply to any employee discharged for misconduct.

ARTICLE 5 - SENIORITY

Section 1

An employee's seniority shall begin on their date of hire with the Employer as a bargaining unit or non-bargaining unit employee and shall include all service with the Employer as a regular full-time employee.

Section 2

Seniority shall accrue during periods of paid leave, but shall not accrue during any periods of unpaid leave except when the employee is unable to work under an FMLA or FMLA-like circumstance or during any period of layoff.

Section 3

The Employer shall provide the Union with a seniority roster every November. The roster shall include all employees covered by this Agreement and list their beginning date of continuous employment.

ARTICLE 6 - HOURS

Section 1: Non-Exempt Employees

- a) Core Workweek
 - 1. The standard workweek for non-exempt employees shall be forty (40) hours, including a one (1) hour paid lunch. In the National Office, the workday for hourly employees consists of eight (8) hours. At the employee's date of hire and at the beginning of each new calendar year prior to January 31, the employee may elect a regularly scheduled workweek beginning between 8:00 a.m. and 10 a.m. and ending between 4:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m. The workweek schedule shall be approved by the employee's supervisor. The elected workweek schedule need not have the same start and end times each day but shall remain consistent for the calendar year, with the exception of approved Alternative Work Schedules in Section 3 of this Article or ad hoc adjustments approved by their manager of less than one hour a day and / or over durations of one calendar week or less.
 - 2. The regularly scheduled workweek and workday for field employees shall vary according to operational needs.
- b) Overtime
 - 1. Employees shall be paid time and a half for actual hours worked in excess of forty (40) in a workweek.
 - 2. All overtime requires the prior approval of the employee's supervisor.
 - 3. The Employer may require an employee to work overtime.
 - 4. Employees shall be paid time and a half for hours worked on holidays.

Section 2: Exempt Employees

- a) Core Workweek
 - 1. The parties recognize that exempt employees are required to work the hours necessary to perform their jobs.

In the National Office, the workweek for exempt employees consists of 40 working hours, excluding the midday break. The core operating hours are 8:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. At the employee's date of hire and in each new calendar year prior to January 31, the employee may elect a regularly scheduled workweek within the core operating hours with a midday break. The workweek schedule shall be approved by the employee's supervisor.

The elected workweek schedule need not have the same start and end times each day but shall remain consistent for the calendar year, with the exception of approved Alternative Work Schedules in Section 3 of this Article or ad hoc adjustments approved by their manager of less than one hour a day and / or over durations of one calendar week or less.

2. In the Field Offices, core workweek hours shall vary with an hour for lunch.

b) Workload Evaluation

If an exempt employee feels that their workload is not manageable or that they are being assigned an unreasonable number of duties, then the Employer agrees to facilitate a meeting to evaluate the disputed workload. Upon the request of the employee, this meeting will be held in no less than ten (10) working days with the immediate supervisor and, where necessary, Regional or National staff.

If not resolved in the preceding steps, the employee and at the employee's request, a Union representative shall meet and take up the matter with Working America's Chief of Staff or designee.

If the preceding steps do not satisfactorily resolve the matter, it may be grieved and arbitrated under Article 20 (Grievance Procedure) of this Agreement.

c) Compensatory Leave

1. It is understood that exempt, non-overtime eligible employees often must work lengthy and irregular hours in order to perform their jobs. In recognition of this, exempt, non-overtime eligible employees shall receive eight (8) days of compensatory leave each calendar year. Exempt employees shall receive their compensatory leave on a quarterly basis (on January 1, April 1, July 1, and October 1).

Compensatory leave shall be prorated to the nearest whole hour increment for employees who in a calendar quarter are actively employed less than a full quarter.

If the Employer requires an employee to work on a paid holiday or on a weekend day of a three-day weekend, they will be awarded an additional half-day if they work at least two (2) hours or a full day if they work six (6) or more hours.

The Chief of Staff at their discretion may award an exempt Employee additional compensatory leave for extraordinary work performed above the minimally required weekly hours during the prior calendar quarter. In addition, Employees who have performed extraordinary work in a calendar quarter may also asked to be considered for additional compensatory leave. Employees initiate such requests by submitting to the supervisor and the Chief of Staff a justification based on work performed for the previous calendar quarter for additional compensatory leave.

- 2. Use of compensatory leave shall be with prior approval of the employee's supervisor.
- 3. Compensatory leave may be used in hourly increments and must be used in the year in which it is earned or granted; it cannot be carried over from year to year. Requests for use shall not be unreasonably denied.

4. If an employee's employment with Employer ends, employees may cash out any received or awarded unused compensatory leave. If an employee's employment with Employer ends prior to the end of a calendar quarter, the compensatory leave awarded for that calendar quarter will be retroactively prorated to the nearest whole hour increment based on the date of separation for the purposes of cash out. Staff who are terminated for misconduct forfeit all unused compensatory leave. If the employee separates for any reason prior to the time they have accumulated the number of compensatory leave hours taken during the calendar quarter, the employee will be responsible for reimbursing Employer in the amount of used but unearned compensatory leave in the form of a reduction of final wages.

Section 3: Alternative Work Schedule

To assist employees with work-life balance, the Employer and the Union recognize the value, desirability, and need for alternative work schedules and arrangements on a temporary ad hoc basis. The employee may work flexible hours by adjusting starting and quitting times, and timing and duration of lunch breaks, so long as the employer's operational needs and job requirements are met. Employees that desire a temporary ad hoc adjustment to their schedule will make such request to management as far in advance as practicable; such requests will be granted by management where consistent with operational needs. Requests for such arrangement will not be unreasonably denied. Existing alternative work schedules and arrangements will be maintained, subject to the Employer's operational needs.

Section 4: Alternative Start Time

Where operational needs allow, if an employee is required by management to work four (4) or more hours in the office beyond their normal work day schedule, the Employer will allow the employee to change their start time on the following day to twelve (12) hours after the time of departure unless unusual work demands require the employee's presence at their usual start time. On days when a late start time is granted the employee can leave at their regularly scheduled departure time if their work is completed for the day.

Section 5: Unexpected Late Work Taxi Fare Reimbursement

Where an employee is unexpectedly required to work three (3) or more hours in the office beyond their normal work day schedule, and their departure time is beyond the schedule of the employee's mode of public transportation, employees shall be entitled to a one-way taxi fare reimbursement from the office to their home up to a maximum benefit of \$50.

ARTICLE 7 – INCLEMENT WEATHER AND OTHER TEMPORARY OFFICE CLOSURES

Section 1

- a) For DC headquarters, the Chief of Staff shall determine the operating status with respect to office closing, delayed reporting, and early departure times related to inclement weather or other temporary office closure conditions (to include safety conditions relating to travel to or work performed at DCHQ). In making this determination, the Chief of Staff will consider the federal government Office of Personnel Management (OPM) operating status.
- b) For Field offices, Senior management, in consultation with the Chief of Staff, shall determine the operating status with respect to closing, delayed reporting, and early departure times related to inclement weather or other temporary office closing conditions (to include safety conditions relating to travel to or work performed at the office location). In making this determination, the Senior Management will consider the local city or county government operating status where the office is located.
- c) Employer shall communicate the operating status with employees as soon as possible either in-person or via email.

Section 2

- a) At all times during which the operating status of a Working America office is other than open, employees who are able to and suitable to telework as determined by Management are required to telework in accordance with the Telework Policy. Such telework shall not count against an employee's telework balance. Disruptions in telework due to the effects of inclement weather (e.g. power or Internet outages) shall not be considered as noncompliance with the Telework Policy. Employees who experience such disruptions of two (2) days or less shall not be required to take leave or make up time lost to telework disruptions during periods of inclement weather or office closures provided they communicate with their manager of such disruption at the earliest possibility.
- b) Employees who are not able to and suitable to telework for inclement weather and / or other temporary office closures as determined by Management will be paid for disruptions or closures of two (2) days or less and the pay will not be deducted from accrued and unused leave. For disruptions or closures of more than two (2) consecutive days, employees who are not able to and suitable to telework for inclement weather and / or other temporary office closures as determined by Management will be able to use accrued and unused vacation or compensatory leave or take unpaid leave. Additionally, Management shall make every effort to find telework-eligible work for those employees to perform in periods of extended closure. This work may include work outside of the employee's job description that they are qualified and able to perform. Employees are also permitted to adjust their work schedule consistent with operational need to account for lost time in lieu of taking leave.

- c) Employees who are eligible to telework and / or are permitted to telework in instances of disruption or closure may choose to use unscheduled leave instead of teleworking. Such leave would count against their balances. Employees must report use of unscheduled leave or unscheduled leave without pay to their immediate supervisor no later than one (l) hour prior to the start of their scheduled work day, or as soon as possible where an announcement is made either less than one hour before the employee's start time or within one hour of an early departure.
- d) If an employee is required by management to stay at work due to an extreme work emergency and an early departure is in effect, the employee will be provided hotel accommodations and per diem if a safety-related condition exists, or at the employee's option, the Employer will pay for transportation home by a taxi or public transportation provided that it is less expensive than providing hotel accommodations.

ARTICLE 8 – VACATION

Section 1

a) Vacation leave shall be earned on an accrual basis for employees.

b) Employees earn vacation at the following rates:	
Date of hire -3 years of service	twelve (12) days per year
Completion of 3 years to 8 years of service	seventeen (17) days per year
Completion of 8 or more years of service	twenty-two (22) days per year

c) Employees who are on an unpaid status do not earn vacation leave.

Section 2

Vacation leave may be taken when earned beginning from an employee's date of hire. Employees with less than five (5) years of service may be permitted to "borrow" against unearned vacation they expect to accrue up to a maximum of forty (40) hours of borrowed vacation leave or the number of hours in their vacation bank, whichever is greater. Employees may only "borrow" when all accrued and unused vacation and compensatory leave is exhausted, excluding vacation bank balances.

If an employee with less than five (5) years of service separates for any reason prior to the time they have accumulated the number of vacation hours taken during the calendar year, the employee will be responsible for reimbursing Employer in the amount of used but unearned vacation.

Employees with five (5) or more years of service may borrow up to their yearly accrual of vacation hours but would be responsible for reimbursing Employer in the amount of used but unearned vacation up to forty (40) hours unless the employee separates voluntarily due to extenuating circumstances (e.g. health emergency, family emergency) and provides certified medical documentation to the Employer.

Section 3

Vacation may be taken in hourly increments.

Section 4

The scheduling of vacation is subject to the prior approval of the employee's supervisor. Vacation requests must be submitted to the supervisor at least two (2) weeks in advance, except for requests for a single day off.

Section 5

Unused accrued vacation may be carried over to June 30 of the following year.

Section 6

For each calendar year, in addition to the carryover specified in Section 5 of this Article, employees with one (1) or more years of service shall be permitted to bank forty (40) hours of accrued and unused vacation each calendar year up to a maximum of three hundred twenty (320) hours. Such hours may be taken in conjunction with the normal yearly accrual in order to provide an extended vacation period. Employees are permitted to replenish withdrawn banked vacation hours in the same calendar year in which withdrawals take place and up to the number of hours withdrawn in addition to the aforementioned permission to bank forty (40) accrued and unused vacation for each calendar year.

Section 7

Any accrued and unused vacation that are otherwise forfeited after Sections 5 and 6 above are applied may be cashed out on June 30 and the end of the calendar year, respectively.

Section 8

The vacation schedule shall be agreed upon by mutual consent, but employees shall have preference based on seniority. In the event of emergency or unforeseen circumstances, an employee may take up to five (5) days of vacation without prior scheduling with the Employer.

Section 9

The Unit understands that it may be necessary to restrict the use of vacation during peak periods. Such restrictions shall be communicated to the Unit in writing as soon as practicable. The Employer will continue to consider vacation requests during this time. Vacation requests that were already approved shall not be modified or rescinded unless operational needs require it.

Section 10

The Employer will provide the Union Chairperson with a report of all used and accrued paid leave upon request.

ARTICLE 9 – SICK LEAVE

Section 1

Employees accrue twelve (12) days of paid sick leave per calendar year at the rate of 1.85 hours per week.

Employees who are on an unpaid status do not earn sick leave.

Section 2

Sick leave may be taken when earned and shall be available in whole hour increments from an employee's date of hire. Employees are permitted to "borrow" against unearned sick leave they expect to accrue in whole hour increments up to a maximum of 40 hours of borrowed sick leave. If an employee separates for any reason prior to the time they have accrued the amount of sick leave borrowed, the sick leave donation bank will be charged for the amount of used but unearned sick leave.

Section 3

Sick leave can be taken in hourly increments. Accrued but unused sick leave may be carried over from one calendar year to the next so long as the total number of days carried over does not exceed thirty (30) days per year.

Section 4

Once notice is given of voluntary or involuntary separation or layoff, more than five (5) sick leave days taken by the employee over the course of the remaining employment period requires medical documentation or the absence will be charged against vacation leave or compensatory leave.

Section 5

- a) A sick leave donation bank shall be maintained by the Employer for use by employees who meet the criteria for sick leave but who have exhausted all accrued vacation, sick, and compensatory leave. All deposits to, or withdrawals from, this bank shall be in whole hour increments.
- b) Any whole hour increments of accrued and unused sick leave that is not carried over pursuant to section (3) will be placed in the sick leave donation bank. Employees may also donate their own accrued sick leave to the donation bank in whole hour increments. Each employee may use up to a maximum of 240 hours from the sick leave donation bank per calendar year.
- c) The Bargaining Unit members will administer the sick leave donation bank requests and may award an individual of the bargaining unit sick leave from the bank balance in whole hour increments. Upon request by the Union, the Director of Administration will inform the Union of the balance in the donation bank. The Union will notify the Director of Administration when the Bargaining Unit members award employees sick leave from the donation bank.

Section 6

Unless circumstances prevent, an employee who is sick must call or email before the start of their workday and notify their supervisor. If the supervisor is unavailable, the employee must leave a message or email a number where they can be reached.

Section 7

Sick leave is not cashed out upon voluntary or involuntary termination of employment.

Section 8

Inability to work due to pregnancy or childbirth will be considered the same as other medical inability to work.

Section 9

Employees shall be permitted to use accrued sick leave to care for their child during the child's illnesses or emergency medical appointments. During a serious health condition, these days may also be used to care for a spouse or domestic partner, parents, or other relative who is in reasonable need of direct care from the employee. This sick leave need not be consecutive. If an employee's need for leave is foreseeable, the employee shall provide the Employer with reasonable prior notice of the requested leave.

Section 10

The Employer reserves the right to request medical documentation where it has reasonable concern as to the need for the absence, the absence is longer than five (5) days, the absence is pursuant to Section 8 of this Article, or in connection with a return from sick leave.

<u>Section 11</u> The Employer shall maintain a Long Term Disability policy.

ARTICLE 10 - MISCELLANEOUS LEAVES

Section 1: Parental Leave

- a) Within the first eighteen (18) months after the birth or adoption of a child during the Employee's employment with the Employer, employees who have at least nine continuous months of service with the Employer are eligible to take eight (8) weeks of paid leave. This leave need not be used consecutively, but the scheduling of any non-consecutive leave is subject to the prior approval of the employee's supervisor.
- b) No vacation, sick or compensatory leave will be earned or accrued during parental leave.
- c) Employees may use up to four (4) weeks total of accrued but unused sick leave and / or donated leave from the Union sick leave bank. For purposes of this provision only, employees need not show that they meet the criteria for sick leave in order to borrow from the Union sick leave bank. Employees may also use vacation leave and / or compensatory leave for parental leave purposes. The scheduling of such leave is subject to the prior approval of the employee's supervisor.
- d) Employees may also take additional weeks of unpaid leave, which must be taken consecutively. If the employee has: (a) worked for Employer for at least one consecutive year prior to the leave; and (b) worked at least 1,000 hours in the year prior to the leave, any parental leave taken or requested under this section is added with any leave taken to care for a family member with a serious health condition to determine total family leave. Employees may take a total cumulative leave of sixteen weeks of total family leave within a eighteen (18) month period for each birth or adoption event during the course of employment with the Employer, subject to the prior approval of the employee's supervisor.
- e) Where necessary to comply with state or local laws governing family leave, the Employer retains the discretion to offer additional leave to Employees covered by that state or local law.

Section 2: Parental Leave to attend School Meetings

Employees who are parents or guardians of school age children may take up to twenty-four (24) hours of unpaid leave during a twelve (12) month period to attend school related activities including parent-teacher conferences, concerts, plays, rehearsals, sporting events and other activities where the child is a participant. The employee must provide ten (10) days' notice before the requested leave unless the school-related activity was not foreseeable. Leave may be denied where it interferes with operational demands. An employee is a parent or guardian if they are the biological or adoptive mother or father of a child; a person who has legal custody of a child; a person who acts as a guardian of a child; an Aunt, Uncle, or grandparent of a child; or the spouse or domestic partner to a person listed in this section.

Section 3: Emergency Personal Leave

With the approval of the employee's supervisor, sick leave and vacation leave may be used for emergency personal leave. Where the emergency would not qualify for usage of sick leave under Article 9, vacation leave must be exhausted before sick leave is used for this purpose.

Section 4: Compassionate Leave

- a) Employees shall be allowed five (5) days of compassionate leave with pay in the event of death in the immediate family, which shall be defined as mother, father, son, daughter, grandmother, grandfather, grandchild, or the spousal equivalent of the preceding relation; spouse or domestic partner, or any person who had primary parental responsibility or guardianship for the employee when the employee was a minor.
- b) Employees shall be allowed three (3) days of compassionate leave with pay in the event of the death of the following: step-mother, step-father, step-child, sister, brother, aunt, uncle, or any other relative in the employee's household.
- c) Employees shall be allowed one (1) day of compassionate leave with pay in the event of a death of a brother-in-law, sister-in-law, niece, nephew, or cousin.
- d) Employees shall be allowed one (l) day off with pay for the purpose of attending the funeral of a co-worker.
- e) For purposes of this section, a domestic partner's relatives shall be treated as spousal equivalents.
- f) Subject to the prior approval of the employee's supervisor, if additional time is needed, such leave may be taken in the form of vacation or sick leave, or if such leave has been exhausted, leave without pay.

Section 5: Jury Duty/Witness Leave

Employees shall be provided leave with supplemental pay during periods of required jury duty and witness service resulting from subpoena by any court of competent jurisdiction. Supplemental pay from the Employer shall be an amount which, when combined with the pay received by the employee for the jury duty or pay received by the employee as a witness equals the total regular salary which would have been received by the employee for the same period of time.

Section 6: Voting Leave

Employees who are eligible voters shall be allowed up to three (3) hours off as needed with pay to vote.

Section 7: Family and Medical Leave

The Employer shall not require an employee to exhaust their accrued paid leave prior to taking unpaid leave to which the employee is entitled under the federal, District of Columbia, or state Family and Medical Leave Acts. While the employee is on unpaid leave, vacation, sick, and compensatory leave will not be accrued.

Any leave taken under any Family and Medical Leave Act and/or under the District of Columbia or a state Family and Medical Leave Act shall run concurrently with any paid leave taken.

Section 8: Family and Medical Leave Act where the Employer does not meet the definition of Covered Employer

When the Employer does not meet the definition of covered employer under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and/or the District of Columbia or state Family and Medical Leave Act, the Employer shall provide unpaid, non-FMLA leave to all employees in the bargaining unit. This leave will use the definitions and provisions of FMLA, to include, among other things the employee eligibility and leave entitlement provisions of the Act but not including the civil suit and enforcement provisions of the Act. This section will also be subject to Section 7a and b above. While the employee is on unpaid leave, vacation, sick, and compensatory leave will not be accrued.

Section 9: Coordination with Paid Family Leave Law

If an eligible employee is entitled to paid sick leave, medical leave for a family member, or leave following birth or adoption benefits through DC Paid Family Leave, the employee must apply for all available benefits. Any benefit that the employee is deemed eligible to receive (or would have been eligible had they applied) will offset the employee's paid leave available under this Agreement so that there is no duplication of benefits. If the DC Paid Family Leave benefit is less than the leave provided under this Agreement, employees may supplement the DC Paid Family Leave benefit with available paid leave, so that the combined benefits (from DC Paid Family Leave and from the Employer) are equal to what the employee would have otherwise received. In the event that, due to the receipt of benefits through DC Paid Family Leave, or the imputed receipt of benefits where an employee fails to apply, an employee receives more than the employee's full base salary, the employee must reimburse the difference to the Employer. An employee must execute an authorization form authorizing the Employer to deduct the overage from the employee's subsequent paycheck(s) beginning no earlier than the pay period after the employee has begun to receive DC Paid Family Leave. Deductions will be made in equal installments based on the number of weeks of leave received through DC Paid Family Leave (e.g., if an employee received six (6) weeks of leave through DC Paid Family Leave, the Employer will deduct the overage over pay periods covering six weeks). Nothing in this Section is intended to affect an employee's entitlement to paid leave available under this Agreement. An employee shall utilize their leave available under this Agreement independent of whether or not an employee's application for benefits under DC Paid Family Leave is approved or rejected. Leave taken under the DC Paid Family Leave law must be taken concurrently with any leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act and any other family and medical leave provided for by federal, state or local law.

If additional paid leave legislation (federal, state, or local) covering Employees is enacted, or if Working America hires employees in a jurisdiction that currently has such a law, the Employer and Union agree to meet to discuss the implementation of that law with respect to Employees, with the goal of ensuring that there is no duplication of benefits.

ARTICLE 11 - HOLIDAYS

Section 1

Employees shall receive the following paid holidays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, Presidential Inauguration Day, President's Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Juneteenth, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veteran's Day, Thanksgiving Day, Day After Thanksgiving, December 24, December 25, and the working days between December 25 and New Year's Day. Where a holiday falls on Saturday, the paid holiday shall be on the preceding Friday; where a holiday falls on a Sunday, the paid holiday shall be on the following Monday. Employees must be in a pay status for the full day on the day prior to and the day following the holiday in order to be paid for the holiday.

Section 2

Subject to advance scheduling, the availability of full-day work, and approval by the supervisor and the Chief of Staff, employees may use Good Friday, December 24, and / or December 25 as floating holidays. The floating holidays are available at the beginning of each calendar year and if not used within the calendar year is forfeited. The floating holiday must be used in a full-day increment. The floating holiday may not be cashed out if not taken or scheduled to be taken prior to notice of separation. If the Employee separates prior to when the holiday would have been awarded, the hours would be deducted from their accrued and unused vacation or compensatory leave or from final pay.

Section 3

In calendar years where Martin Luther King Jr. Day and Presidential Inauguration Day fall on the same day, employees will receive the observed holiday as well as the following Tuesday.

ARTICLE 12 - WAGES

Section 1

- a) The salary schedule listed in Appendix A is based on wage rates for employees whose Working America office is in Phoenix, Arizona.
- b) For employees who are based out of a Working America office other than Phoenix, Arizona, the locality-based compensation payments schedule issued by the federal government Office of Personnel Management (OPM) as of November 1 will be used to calculate the wage rate differential for the office location in which the employee is based (For example, according to the schedule effective January 1, 2024, the rate for Phoenix, Arizona, is 22.02% and the rate for Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, is 28.55%, which is understood to mean that the salary schedule for employees based in Philadelphia is 6.53% more than the salary schedule set in Appendix A.).

If the wage rate differential for the office location in which the employee is based is lower than the rates listed in Appendix A, they will be paid at the rates listed in Appendix A.

c) Employees hired on or before March 31, 2025, who would otherwise experience a wage reduction on April 1, 2025, after Sections 1 and 2 are applied shall not have their wages reduced, and will receive increases of one percent (1%) (instead of the increases of two percent (2%)) at each Step progression. When the wages for the appropriate Step of the position set forth in Appendix A catches up to the Employee's rate of pay, the Employee shall be placed on the wage schedule set forth in Appendix A and receive regular increases as set forth in this Article.

Section 2

As shown in Appendix A, the difference between all Steps shall be two percent (2%).

Section 3

Step 9, 11, and 13 shall be added to the salary schedule in Appendix A. After the employee has been at Step 7 for two (2) years, the employee shall move to Step 9; after the employee has been at Step 9 for two (2) years, the employee shall move to Step 11; and after the employee has been at Step 11 for two (2) years, the employee shall move to Step 13.

Section 4

Each employee will advance through the appropriate pay grade schedule on the employee's anniversary date until the employee reaches Step 13.

Section 5

A cost of living increase will be considered on March 1, 2026, on March 1, 2027, on March 1, 2028, and March 1, 2029.

The percentage increase (if any) in the Consumer Price Index for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers (CPI-W) as published by the Social Security Administration (SSA) from the average for the twelve months preceding the last calendar day in December of the previous year compared to the average for the twelve months preceding the last calendar day in December of the year preceding the previous year will be used to determine the cost of living increase up to 0.25%, if any. Increases greater than 0.25% will be determined as follows:

- The total cost of living increase will be capped at 0.50% if the average total net asset as shown on the IRS Form 990 filed for the previous two fiscal years is at or above an average of \$600,000 per Employee represented by the Union;
- The total cost of living increase will be capped at 1.00% if the average total net asset as shown on the IRS Form 990 filed for the previous two fiscal years is at or above an average of \$900,000 per Employee represented by the Union;
- The total cost of living increase will be capped at 1.50% if the average total net asset as shown on the IRS Form 990 filed for the previous two fiscal years is at or above an average of \$1,500,000 per Employee represented by the Union;
- The total cost of living increase will be capped at 2.00% if the average total net asset as shown on the IRS Form 990 filed for the previous two fiscal years is at or above an average of \$2,000,000 per Employee represented by the Union;
- The total cost of living increase will be capped at 2.50% if the average total net asset as shown on the IRS Form 990 filed for the previous two fiscal years is at or above an average of \$3,000,000 per Employee represented by the Union;
- The total cost of living increase will be capped at 3.00% if the average total net asset as shown on the IRS Form 990 filed for the previous two fiscal years is at or above an average of \$3,500,000 per Employee represented by the Union.

There shall be no cost of living increases after expiration of this Agreement, absent express agreement by the Employer and Union.

Section 6

In addition to the wages outlined in this Article above, employees will receive daily supplemental pay of forty dollars (\$40.00) per day for each full day worked in the office. Full days are defined in accordance with Article 6, Sections 1 and 2, of this Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Employees will receive a daily supplemental pay of twenty dollars (\$20.00) per day for half days worked in the office.

ARTICLE 13 - INSURANCE

Section 1: Medical. Dental, and Vision Insurance

Beginning on the first day following the month hired, the Employer shall provide single medical, dental, and vision insurance benefits at no cost to the employee. If the employee elects family coverage, the Employer shall pay seventy-seven percent (77%) of the total premium, and the employee shall pay twenty-three percent (23%) of the total premium.

Employees who are on unpaid leave for two (2) weeks or longer are responsible for the pro-rata portion of the total premium for single or family for the time in which they are on unpaid leave except when the employee is unable to work under an FMLA or FMLA-like circumstance.

Section 2: Life Insurance

Beginning on the first day of the month following the month hired, the Employer shall provide each employee with life insurance in the amount of sixty-five thousand dollars (\$65,000).

Section 3: Supplemental Life Insurance

Beginning on the first day of the month following the month hired, the employee is eligible to purchase supplemental life insurance up to five (5) times their salary to a maximum of \$500,000.

Section 4: Flexible Spending Accounts-Health Care

The Employer shall provide Health Care Flexible Spending Accounts (FSA) for bargaining unit members. An FSA is a special account that allows employees to use pre-tax dollars for certain out-of-pocket health care costs.

The Employer shall contribute one hundred dollars (\$100) to an employee's FSA account following completion of their probationary period.

Section 5: Flexible Spending Accounts-Dependent Care

The Employer shall provide Dependent Care Flexible Spending Accounts for bargaining unit members.

Section 6: Additional Special Coverage

The Employer shall provide each employee participating in the Employer's health insurance plan with a Health Reimbursement Account to reimburse up to themselves and / or dependent plan participants up to two hundred fifty dollars (\$250) for travel costs and fifty dollars (\$50) per night in accommodation costs to travel out-of-state to seek coverage not available in their home state, up to an annual plan-year limit of seven hundred fifty dollars (\$750) per plan participant.

ARTICLE 14 – 401(k) PLAN

Section 1

The Employer shall provide a 401(k) Plan and employees shall be eligible for participation sixty days from the date of hire.

Section 2

Employer shall contribute three and one quarter percent (3.25%) of an employee's base salary to their 401(k) Plan no later than March 31 of the subsequent year.

Section 3

The Employer shall match an employee's contribution up to six percent (6%) of the employee's base salary.

ARTICLE 15 - EDUCATION

Section 1: Employer Required

The Employer shall pay the training expenses if it requires an employee to participate in training the Employer deems necessary for the employee's performance of their job. The employee shall be paid for attending the training and the Travel Expense policy shall apply for any associated travel expenses.

Section 2: Employee-Initiated Education

The Employer will provide an annual budget of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) per calendar year to be used for reimbursement of tuition fees, training expenses, or textbooks for employeeinitiated education opportunities directly related to a course of study conducted at a recognized college or university, an accredited educational institution, or to attend a training or conference related to the employee's work at Working America. To be eligible for reimbursement, the following requirements must be met:

- 1) The employee must be a full-time bargaining unit employee beyond their probationary period.
- 2) The course of study must be:
 - a) directly related to the employee's current job, or
 - b) directly related to a higher-level position within the employee's current job discipline, or
 - c) directly related to an existing position within Working America that is outside of the employee's current job discipline.

This benefit is exercised by using the Education Request form. The Union shall certify the eligibility requirements have been met and the employee shall provide proof of payment and documentation that the course was completed.

Where an employee is financially unable to pay the education or training expense directly, the Employer will advance payment to the employee or educational institution. The employee must subsequently submit proof of payment to the education or training institute and evidence that they completed the course within thirty (30) days of the course date. If the employee is unable to provide such documentation, the employee shall be required to repay the Employer for the advance through payroll deduction. If payment has not been completed by the employee's separation, the employee authorizes the Employer to deduct any outstanding balance from the final pay.

Classes under this section that are conducted within the employee's normal work schedule require the employee to use accrued vacation or compensatory leave, or unpaid leave.

All requests under this section must be submitted in the calendar year incurred.

ARTICLE 16 – FILLING OF VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS

Section 1

The Employer shall notify all employees by email or similar method, of any vacancy in an existing or newly created position it intends to fill.

Section 2

Employees shall have five (5) working days from the date of the posting to apply for the vacancy. After five (5) working days, employees are still eligible to apply as an internal applicant up until the position closing date, but will not necessarily be interviewed before external applicants.

Section 3

The Employer may advertise externally at the same time it posts internally, but will interview internal bidders before interviewing outside applicants unless the internal bidder is unavailable.

Section 4

Successful bidders/applicants shall be chosen based on their qualifications, for example, experience, skill, and job-related knowledge. Qualifications for a position shall be determined by Management.

Where the qualifications of an internal bidder and an outside applicant are relatively equal, the Employer shall award the position to the internal bidder.

Where the Employer is deciding between two internal bidders whose qualifications are relatively equal, seniority shall be given primary consideration.

Section 5

If an employee is not awarded a position, upon request, the Employer will meet with the employee and, at the employee's option, a representative of the Union to discuss the reasons for non-selection. This meeting must be held within five (5) working days of request.

Section 6: Transfers

Within five (5) days of an internal vacancy posting, current employees past their probationary period with the same job title, or senior classification, can transfer into the vacancy without needing to apply or interview. If there are multiple employees who request transfer for the same vacancy, the employee with the highest seniority will be awarded the transfer. Transferred employees will maintain any prior senior classification of the job title, as well as their current salary step level.

Section 7

The Employer must honor a transfer request made by an employee, but is not obligated to honor more than one (1) transfer request per employee, during the term of this Agreement. The Employer may not force employees to transfer, as a condition of employment, or use an employee's refusal to transfer in disciplinary action or promotional decisions. For employees whose job descriptions do not require travel, the Employer may not use the employee's refusal to travel or participate in a cross-train in disciplinary or promotional decisions.

Section 8

In accordance with the Relocation Expense Policy, employees who relocate to a new office at the request of the Employer will be eligible for relocation expenses.

ARTICLE 17 – JOB DESCRIPTIONS

Section 1

The Employer will provide each employee, at the time of employment, a job description of the duties and responsibilities which the employee is expected to perform; a copy of the job description will be maintained in the employee's personnel file.

Section 2

Upon an employee's request, the job description shall be reviewed annually with the affected employee(s) and the immediate supervisor. The employee may choose to be represented by the Union during such discussion. The Employer may also initiate such a review.

ARTICLE 18 -- PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS

Section 1: Performance Evaluation

Each employee will receive an annual performance evaluation from their supervisor. The evaluation will be discussed by the supervisor with the employee. Where an employee requests a written performance evaluation, the employee will be given a copy of the evaluation form, and will have the opportunity to make a written response. The employee's written response will be attached to the evaluation form.

Section 2: Supervisor Evaluation

Simultaneous to the Performance Evaluation, the employee, at their option, may also complete a written evaluation of their supervisor using the Working America Staff Evaluation form Manager Review section as a guideline. The supervisor evaluation will be shared with the supervisor and the Chief of Staff. The supervisor will have the opportunity to make a written response. The Chief of Staff has discretion for any follow up. This two-way evaluation process is meant to be a constructive exercise with the intent to provide direct feedback to the supervisor to foster an open dialog between the employee and supervisor.

Section 3: Reclassification

- a) At the employee's request, a meeting shall be scheduled to review whether or not the employee meets the requirements of a reclassification to a higher grade. The request shall be considered within thirty (30) days of the scheduled meeting.
- b) The review will consider whether or not:
 - Significant changes in the employee's duties and responsibilities have taken place that increase the level of skills, responsibilities, and experiences needed consistent with a higher grade, or that the duties of the position are significantly different from those in the job description; and
 - The new level of skills, responsibilities, and experiences is comparable to that required of a higher grade.
- c) Determinations made in accordance with the foregoing provisions will not be subject to provisions of Article 20 Grievance Procedure.

Section 4: Skill Assessment Development

Separate from an annual review, at the employee's request, a meeting shall be scheduled to assess skill development and promotional advancement opportunities for the employee. The meeting will be guided by the Skill Assessment Development form. If, during the course of the conversation, it is determined that the employee is already performing a large majority of the duties for an existing senior position within their discipline and possesses all qualifications required by the job description, then the Employer will create a plan to promote the employee into the higher position within three (3) months. Refusals to facilitate the employee's request for this meeting shall be subject to provisions of Article 20 Grievance Procedure.

Employees may request a reclassification as provided in Section 3 as well as a Skill Assessment Development determination at the same time. Employees will not be eligible for another request for a Skills Assessment or a reclassification under Section 3 for a period of one (1) year from the determination, regardless of outcome.

Section 5

Evaluation forms themselves will not be relied on by the Employer for disciplinary action or promotional decisions. Employee conduct or performance described on the evaluation form may be subject of disciplinary action and may be considered in promotional decisions. Employee performance evaluations do not alter the provisions of Article 4 regarding discipline or discharge.

Section 6

Evaluations conducted in accordance with the foregoing provisions will not be subject to the grievance procedure, except as specified in Section 5 of this Article.

ARTICLE 19 - LAYOFFS

Section 1

If the Employer is going to lay off employees because of a reduction in force, a restructuring, or elimination of a position for other operational reasons, it shall layoff in inverse order of seniority within job classification within each office.

Section 2: Notice

- a) The Employer shall provide the Union with four (4) weeks' notice of any layoff.
- b) The Employer shall provide employees identified for layoff with four (4) weeks' notice of layoff, or, at the Employer's option, with pay in lieu of some or all of the notice. This notice requirement shall be satisfied by any written employment offer that specifies the end date of employment. Notice to employees shall run concurrently with the notice provided to the Union in Section 2a, above.

Section 3: Severance Benefits

Any employee, other than a fixed-term employee, who is identified for layoff shall be provided with:

a) Severance pay, to be awarded based on years of continuous service as follows:

One (1) year of service	Two (2) weeks of severance pay
Two (2) years of service	Three (3) weeks of severance pay
Three (3) years of service	Four (4) weeks of severance pay
Four (4) years of service	Five (5) weeks of severance pay
Five (5) years of service	Six (6) weeks of severance pay

Employees with more than five (5) years of service shall receive six (6) weeks of severance pay plus two (2) weeks of severance pay for each additional year of service. Partial years of service will be prorated with no employee receiving less than one (1) week of severance pay;

b) Employees who have completed one (1) year of service, if the employee has not gained replacement health insurance and provides certification to the Employer by the first of the month that they have not been able to gain replacement health insurance, the Employer will provide the employee with funds sufficient to pay for a month of coverage in a second-lowest cost "silver" plan on their State or Federal Health Exchange, less any Advance Premium Tax Credit to which the employee is entitled to receive, up to a maximum of three (3) months. Employees taking advantage of this section must apply for the tax credit when applying for the insurance through the marketplace.

For the purposes of this section, if a former employee is offered, through a new employer or through the employer of a spouse or domestic partner, health insurance that does not provide benefits equal to the benefits provided by the Employer or which requires an employee contribution, that does not constitute an inability to obtain replacement health insurance.

c) The Employer will provide an employee a letter stating the employee's job title, dates of employment, final rate of pay and include a statement that the employee was laid off as a result of a downsizing of workforce for reasons unrelated to the quality of their work. The Employer shall not prohibit supervisors from being used as a personal reference for the employee and giving a verbal recommendation.

Section 4: Recall

This section applies to employees other than fixed-term employees.

- a) National Office employees past their probationary period who are laid off shall have recall rights for six (6) months to the position from which laid off.
- b) A Field employee past their probationary period with the Employer who is laid off shall have recall rights for six (6) months to the position from which laid off in the same office or another office.
- c) The Employer shall send a recall notice to the Unit Chairperson and to the last e-mail address of all employees on the recall list for the position as well as notice of the employee's position on the recall list. An employee has five (5) working days from the date of recall notice to respond in writing to the recall. Except as otherwise mutually agreed between the Employer and the employee, the employee with the most seniority of any person to respond to the recall shall be recalled to the position, and they must be available to begin work within ten (10) working days of the date of the recall notice. Reasonable requests for extensions on work availability will not be denied.
- d) An employee who declines a recall offer shall have no further rights to recall except in cases when the employee is unable to relocate to the offered location, the employee will maintain recall rights for the duration set in Section 4a and 4b above.
- e) All laid off employees while on the recall list will be notified via email of any new internal job postings.

Section 5

- a) Time spent on a recall list by a laid off employee shall not constitute a break in continuity of service and seniority.
- b) No seniority will be earned while an employee is on layoff.

c) Senior classified staff can upon receiving a job notice from Employer, request to be recalled for the non-senior classified opening of their job position, but the Employer must restore their senior classification no later than three (3) months after recall.

Section 6

Fixed-term employees who have been employed consecutively for one (1) year or more and are in good standing shall be provided with compensation in accordance with aforementioned Section 3(a) if the Employer ends their term prior to the expiration of that term.

ARTICLE 20 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 1

A grievance within the meaning of this Agreement shall be any controversy or dispute arising between the parties hereto relating to any matter covered by this Agreement, or practice thereunder, including wages, working conditions, or benefits, or the interpretation or application of this Agreement. A grievance shall be presented within ten (10) business days of the action giving rise to the complaint, or within ten (10) business days of when the complaining party or the Union should have become aware of the action. Efforts to adjudicate grievances shall be made wherever possible during the normal workday and workweek and be held in person or by telephone conference call.

Section 2

A grievance shall specify the name of the grievant(s), the action(s) complained of, the date(s) on which the action(s) occurred, the provision(s) of this Agreement that the Union contends have been violated, and the remedy sought.

Section 3

Any employee may discuss any matter with their supervisor without invoking the formal grievance procedure provided for in this Article.

Section 4

Step 1: The grievance shall be filed with the grievant's immediate supervisor. The Employer agrees to meet, in person or by telephone conference call, with the Unit Chairperson within five (5) business days after the grievance is filed, except that the five (5) day period may be extended to ten (10) business days by mutual agreement. The supervisor or designee shall respond in writing within fifteen (15) business days of this meeting. Failure to do so shall allow the Union to move the grievance to Step 2.

In the field, when, in the judgment of the supervisor or designee, the grievance relates to a national rather than field issue, the supervisor or designee shall move the grievance to Step 2 within five (5) business days of the filing of the grievance or within five (5) business days of the meeting with the grievant and the Union steward, with written notice to the Union and the grievant.

Step 2: If the Union wishes to appeal a Step 1 denial of a grievance, it shall file that appeal with the appropriate department director or designee within five (5) business days following the receipt of the written Step 1 denial. The department director or designee, the Unit Chairperson or designee, and the grievant shall meet, in person or by telephone conference call, within ten (10) business days of the filing at Step 2. The department director or designee shall respond in writing within fifteen (15) business days of this meeting. Failure to do so shall allow the Union to move the grievance to arbitration.

Section 5

Any matter involving the interpretation, application, administration, or alleged violation of this Agreement (except renewal of this contract), including a question of whether or not a matter is arbitrable, not satisfactorily settled with fifteen (15) business days of the Step 2 meeting may be submitted to final and binding arbitration by either party within fifteen (15) business days after the Employer's Step 2 response pursuant to Section 4 of this Article. The parties initiating arbitration shall apply to the American Arbitration Association for appointment of an arbiter according to the Association's regular rules for selection of an arbitrator, unless the parties mutually agree on a different process for selection of an arbitrator shall not have the authority to add to, delete from amend or modify the terms of this Agreement. The costs of the arbitration shall be borne equally by the parties, except that no party shall be obligated to pay any part of the costs of a stenographic transcript without express consent.

Section 6

The time limits specified in this Article may be extended by mutual written agreement between the Employer and the Union.

Section 7

The Employer respects the right of employees to file grievances under this Article.

ARTICLE 21 – EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT

Section 1

The Employer shall reimburse staff travel expenses in accordance with its Travel and Expense Policy, which can be found in Appendix C, and relocation expenses in accordance with its Relocation Expense Policy, which can be found in Appendix D. The Union and the Employer must negotiate any changes to these policies.

Section 2

The Employer shall reimburse all other legitimate expenses incurred by Bargaining Unit members in the service of the Employer, for which the employee receives written or verbal preapproval by the Employer. Mileage will be reimbursed at the IRS rate.

Section 3: Cell Phones

- a) The Employer will provide cell phones, or at the employee's option, a fifty dollar (\$50) per month allowance, to all exempt DCHQ and Field employee positions.
- b) The Employer will provide cell phones, or at the employee's option, a fifty dollar (\$50) per month allowance, for certain non-exempt DCHQ and Field employee positions on the basis of operational need.
- c) The allowance shall be paid each month on the first pay period of the month following eligibility and shall be pro-rated for partial months.
- d) Eligible employees who opt for a cell phone allowance are required to submit a copy of their cell phone bill to the Director of Administration monthly, prior to reimbursement.
- e) Employees are not paid the allowance while on unpaid leave. Partial months shall be prorated.
- f) Occasional personal use of Employer provided cell phones is allowed as long as it does not result in additional charges over and above the standard calling plan allowed by Employer.
- g) Employees must be in a paid status to receive the cell phone benefits in this section. An unpaid status of thirty (30) or more days will result in the temporary suspension or termination of this benefit.

ARTICLE 22 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Employer reserves, and the Union recognizes that the Employer retains, its traditional management rights and prerogatives not expressly limited or modified by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 23 – NO DISCRIMINATION

Section 1

The Employer agrees that there shall be no discrimination with respect to any Employee because of their acting as an officer or in any other capacity on behalf of the Union.

Section 2

The Employer and the Union agree not to discriminate against any Employee because of their sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, race, religion, color, age, disability, family status, or national origin.

Section 3

Any challenge to a denial of additional telework days as a long-term and / or permanent accommodation under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), D.C. Human Rights Act, or other applicable state or local law requiring reasonable accommodations for employees with a disability is not subject to the arbitration provision outlined under Article 20, Section 5, of this Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Denials of additional telework days of six (6) weeks or less as a temporary, short-term accommodation under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), D.C. Human Rights Act, or other applicable state or local law requiring reasonable accommodations for employees with a disability remain subject to the arbitration provision outlined under Article 20, Section 5, of this Collective Bargaining Agreement.

The Employee retains the right to seek further remedy through a federal, state, or local government body of competent jurisdiction.

ARTICLE 24 – RESPECT AND DIGNITY

Section 1

The parties acknowledge the following fundamental understandings:

- a) The Employer and the Union agree to cooperate with one another in efforts to assure efficient operations, to serve the needs of the Employer and to meet the highest standards in such service.
- b) The Employer and the Union agree that it is their mutual aim to act at all times in such a manner as to treat all bargaining unit and non-bargaining unit employees of the Employer with respect and dignity.
- c) The Employer agrees to work closely with the Union, through the unit officers and shop stewards, to explore all reasonable means to help employees improve their performance and to enjoy success on the job.

Section 2

This Article shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

Section 3: Management Relations Committee

A Management Relations Committee shall be created to address issues under this Article. The Management Relations Committee shall consist of the Chief of Staff and his or her designee. If the issue involves the Chief of Staff, the meeting shall be with the General Counsel and his or her uninvolved designee.

Issues under this Article may be addressed through a meeting with the employee and a union representative, or at the employee's option a union representative alone, and the Management Relations Committee. The employee and or union representative shall notify the Chief of Staff or General Counsel in writing of the need to meet with the Management Relations Committee. A meeting shall occur in-person or by telephone conference call within ten (10) working days of receipt of notice, except that the ten (10) day period may be extended to fifteen (15) working days at the request of either party or, by mutual agreement, the period may be extended beyond fifteen (15) working days. The Committee will investigate the issues with any witnesses and the manager involved. If the investigation establishes corrective action is warranted, the Employer will take the appropriate action. The general findings of the investigation shall be reported back to the union representative and the Executive Director.

ARTICLE 25 – LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

A joint Labor-Management Committee will be established of two (2) representatives chosen by the Employer and two (2) or more representatives chosen by the Union. The Committee will meet quarterly or by mutual agreement at a different frequency. The Labor-Management Committee will seek to identify and resolve issues of mutual concern to the Employer and the Union, as well as employees the latter represents. The Labor-Management Committee further will be used to facilitate attaining the goals of the employer, and enable employees to be more effective and productive in accomplishing the Employer's mission. The Committee may take up non-grievance issues that affect the relations of an employee with the Employer, and by mutual agreement may consider matters that are subject to the grievance and arbitrations provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 26 - CONSULTANTS

Section 1

The Employer shall have the right to use consultants to perform work normally performed within the Union bargaining unit. No such consultant shall be used for more than twelve (12) consecutive months, except where operational needs demand and the parties mutually agree to an extension. An agreement to an extension shall not be unreasonably denied or delayed.

Employer will notify the Union of such use at least one (1) week in advance.

Section 2

Consultants shall not be used where they would replace permanent full-time employees.

Section 3

Upon request, the Employer will provide the Unit Chair with a description of the work being done by a consultant under Section 1 of this Article, and, if the consultant is working by the hour, the number of hours worked and the pay rate.

Section 4

Consultants may not directly supervise Union members.

ARTICLE 27 – TEMPORARY AND PROJECT EMPLOYEES

Section 1

The Employer shall have the right to use temporary and project employees to perform work normally performed within the Union bargaining unit. No such temporary or project employee shall be used for more than twelve (12) consecutive months, except where operational needs demand and the parties mutually agree to an extension. An agreement to an extension shall not be unreasonably denied or delayed. Employer will notify the Union of such use at least one (I) week in advance where possible.

Section 2

Temporary and project employees shall not replace permanent full-time employees except where filling in for an employee on leave or where the Employer has posted but has still been unable to fill a vacancy.

Section 3

If a temporary or project position involving work normally performed within the Union bargaining unit becomes a permanent full-time position, it shall be included in the bargaining unit. Upon permanent full-time date of hire, continuous time served as a temporary or project employee shall be credited for purposes of seniority and the employee shall be subject to the probationary period of Article 4, Section 1.

ARTICLE 28 - MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1

If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable by a court or other jurisdictional authority, the Employer and the Union shall meet to discuss the matter.

Section 2: Bylines

An employee's byline shall not be used over their protest on any written material. The Employer will continue its practice of acknowledging contributor status to various media where appropriate and reasonable.

Section 3: Use of Employer Assets

The Employer and the Union agree that Management has the right to determine appropriate use of Employer assets, including but not limited to technological resources; membership and campaign data; research, analytics, models, and all derivative data; names, logos, images, websites, and social media accounts owned by Working America; and other intellectual or physical property. Limited personal use of Employer-provided email and electronic systems is permissible during the employee's free time, but employees may not use Employer assets in furtherance of the goals of any for-profit entity, political candidate, non-profit entity, or positions other than Employer, without the express permission of Management. The Employer and the Union further agree that employees will not use work assets to promote the Union's goals or positions, except that employees may use their work computers to virtually attend monthly Union meetings as outlined in Section 6 and may use their work emails to communicate with management about union matters.

Section 4: Outside Activities

Employees shall be free to engage in the practice of their craft or profession outside of normal working hours provided that such outside work does not interfere with the mission, work or established policies of the Employer. No employee shall seek or accept any fee or honorarium from another party for work performed in their capacity as a representative of the Employer.

Section 5: Job Actions and Work Stoppages

It is agreed that neither the Union, its agents, or its members, individually or collectively, shall authorize, instigate, cause, or take part in any primary or secondary strike, work stoppage, sitdown, stay-in, slowdown, or any other willful curtailment or restriction of the Employer's operations during the term of this Agreement. It is agreed that neither the Union, its agents, or its members, individually or collectively, shall authorize, instigate, cause, or take part in any picketing other than informational picketing during the term of this Agreement. The Employer agrees that there shall be no lock-out of Employees during the term of this Agreement.

Section 6: Monthly Union Meeting

The Union will be permitted to hold a monthly one (1) hour unit meeting on the first (1st) Friday of each month at 12 :00 pm ET, which will be held over lunch on the Employer's premises. National and Field Staff employees shall be allowed to prioritize this meeting in their schedule and the Employer will reschedule any conflicting events accordingly, except in cases where scheduling conflicts are outside of the Employer's control. In the event when the first (1st) Friday of the month is a Paid Holiday, or the office is closed, the meeting will be moved. The Union agrees to report any use of AFL-CIO rooms to the Director of Administration in order that the Union may pay any fee charged to the Employer for use of the space. This section does not entitle Field Staff to travel to attend Union meetings.

Section 7: Existing Benefits

No reduction in pay and economic benefits (for example, pay, leave, insurance, and 401(k)) shall be made as a result of putting this Agreement into effect unless negotiated.

ARTICLE 29 – TELEWORK POLICY

Telework is available for eligible employees in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Telework Policy at Appendix E.

ARTICLE 30 – REMOTE WORK POLICY

Remote work may available for eligible employees in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Remote Work Policy at Appendix F.

ARTICLE 31 – DURATION AND RENEWAL

This Agreement shall take effect as of April 1, 2025, and remain in effect through September 30, 2029. Within ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date of this Agreement, the Employer or the Union may initiate negotiations for a new Agreement.

FOR WORKING AMERICA

FOR THE GUILD

Jony Cheng

Emire Send

Date _____5

He Joh

Date 4/18/2025

APPENDIX A: SALARY SCHEDULE

Salary schedule effective April 1, 2025.

-	Base Wages									
Job Title	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 9	Step 11	Step 13
Administrative &										
Accounting										
Assistant	\$50,400	\$51,408	\$52,436	\$53,485	\$54,555	\$55,646	\$56,759	\$57,894	\$59,052	\$60,233
Administrative &										
Accounting	# 50.000	#57.000	#50.005	\$00.077	\$01.100	#00 740	#00.007	\$05.040	400 FF4	#07.000
Associate	\$56,800	\$57,936	\$59,095	\$60,277	\$61,483	\$62,713	\$63,967	\$65,246	\$66,551	\$67,882
Application	¢70 500	¢71 010	¢70.040	\$74,815	¢7C 011	¢77.007	¢70.004	¢00.000	¢00.000	¢04.054
Administrator Assistant Data	\$70,500	\$71,910	\$73,348	\$74,815	\$76,311	\$77,837	\$79,394	\$80,982	\$82,602	\$84,254
Administrator	\$65,800	\$67,116	\$68,458	\$69,827	\$71,224	\$72,648	\$74,101	\$75,583	\$77,095	\$78,637
Administrator Assistant Data	\$03,800	\$07,110	φ00,430	\$09,627	\$71,224	φ72,040	φ/4,101	\$75,565	\$77,095	\$76,037
Analyst	\$47,700	\$48,654	\$49,627	\$50,620	\$51,632	\$52,665	\$53,718	\$54,792	\$55,888	\$57,006
Campaign	φ47,700	φ40,004	φ40,027	φ30,020	ψ51,052	ψ32,003	ψ30,710	ψ04,702	\$33,000	ψ37,000
Communications										
Specialist	\$69,500	\$70,890	\$72,308	\$73,754	\$75,229	\$76,734	\$78,269	\$79,834	\$81,431	\$83,060
Data Assistant	\$39,700	\$40,494	\$41,304	\$42,130	\$42,973	\$43,832	\$44,709	\$45,603	\$46,515	\$47,445
Development	\$33,700	φ40,434	\$41,504	ψ42,130	φ 4 2,975	ψ40,00Z	φ44,703	φ40,000	φ40,515	ψ47,44J
and										
Administrative										
Assistant	\$48,700	\$49,674	\$50,667	\$51,680	\$52,714	\$53,768	\$54,843	\$55,940	\$57,059	\$58,200
Development	+ ,	+ ,	+	+,	<i>,,,,,,</i> ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	+,	+= .,= .=	+,	+,	+,
Manager	\$79,000	\$80,580	\$82,192	\$83,836	\$85,513	\$87,223	\$88,967	\$90,746	\$92,561	\$94,412
Digital Assistant	\$61,700	\$62,934	\$64,193	\$65,477	\$66,787	\$68,123	\$69,485	\$70,875	\$72,293	\$73,739
Digital	ψ01,700	φ02,00 4	φ04,100	φ00,477	<i>\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\</i>	<i>\\</i> 00,120	φ00,400	\$70,070	φ72,200	φ/0,/00
Communications										
Assistant	\$48,900	\$49,878	\$50,876	\$51,894	\$52,932	\$53,991	\$55,071	\$56,172	\$57,295	\$58,441
Digital		. ,		. ,				. ,	. ,	. ,
Communications										
Associate	\$55,100	\$56,202	\$57,326	\$58,473	\$59,642	\$60,835	\$62,052	\$63,293	\$64,559	\$65,850
Digital										
Communications										
Specialist	\$71,700	\$73,134	\$74,597	\$76,089	\$77,611	\$79,163	\$80,746	\$82,361	\$84,008	\$85,688
Executive										
Administrative										
Assistant	\$67,600	\$68,952	\$70,331	\$71,738	\$73,173	\$74,636	\$76,129	\$77,652	\$79,205	\$80,789
Field										
Administrative	#00 700	\$00.004	#00.00F	A70 700	A70.400	A70.040	A75 440	A70.040	A70.450	A70 740
Manager	\$66,700	\$68,034	\$69,395	\$70,783	\$72,199	\$73,643	\$75,116	\$76,618	\$78,150	\$79,713
Field Operations	\$41,700	\$42,534	\$43,385	\$11.050	\$45,138	\$46,041	\$46,962	¢47.001	¢10 0E0	\$49,836
Assistant Field Operations	\$41,700	ə4∠,⊃34	433	\$44,253	\$40,138	- φ40,041	\$40,90Z	\$47,901	\$48,859	
Specialist	\$62,200	\$63,444	\$64,713	\$66,007	\$67,327	\$68,674	\$70,047	\$71,448	\$72,877	\$74,335
Information	ψ02,200	ψ00,444	ψ04,713	ψ00,007	ψ07,027	ψ00,074	ψ/0,04/	ψ/1,440	ψ12,011	ψ/+,000
Technology										
Assistant	\$56,700	\$57,834	\$58,991	\$60,171	\$61,374	\$62,601	\$63,853	\$65,130	\$66,433	\$67,762
Marketing and	, ,	, , ,	,,	,,	,,	,,	,,	, ,	, ,	,
Outreach										
Associate -										
Member										
Benefits										
Associate	\$47,800	\$48,756	\$49,731	\$50,726	\$51,741	\$52,776	\$53,832	\$54,909	\$56,007	\$57,127

Media Outreach			I	I	l	I		I	I	
Specialist	\$56,600	\$57,732	\$58,887	\$60,065	\$61,266	\$62,491	\$63,741	\$65,016	\$66,316	\$67,642
National	400,000	<i>\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\</i>	<i>400,00</i>	400,000	<i>Q</i> QQQQQQQQQQQQQ	<i>\\</i> 02,101	<i>\</i> \\\\\	400,010	\$00,010	<i>\\\</i> ,012
Recruitment										
Specialist	\$53,400	\$54,468	\$55,557	\$56,668	\$57,801	\$58,957	\$60,136	\$61,339	\$62,566	\$63,817
Office Manager	\$42,600	\$43,452	\$44,321	\$45,207	\$46,111	\$47,033	\$47,974	\$48,933	\$49,912	\$50,910
Office Manager	<i>Q</i> -12,000	ϕ+0,+02	<i>Q</i> 11,021	φ-10,207	<i>\\\\\\\\\\\\\</i>	<i>\\\\\\\\\\\\\</i>	φ <i>+1</i> ,07+	 ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ ϕ	\$10,012	\$00,010
(Bilingual)	\$46,860	\$47,797	\$48,753	\$49,728	\$50,722	\$51,736	\$52,771	\$53,826	\$54,903	\$56,001
Organizer 1	\$50,200	\$51,204	\$52,228	\$53,273	\$54,338	\$55,425	\$56,534	\$57,665	\$58,818	\$59,994
Organizer 1	<i>\</i> 00,200	ψ01,20 4	<i>\\</i> 02,220	<i>\\</i> 00,270	<i>\</i> 0-4,000	φ00,420	φ00,00 4	<i>\\\</i> ,000	400,010	φ00,00 4
(Remote)	\$45,180	\$46,084	\$47,005	\$47,946	\$48,904	\$49,883	\$50,881	\$51,899	\$52,936	\$53,995
Organizer 2	\$56,600	\$57,732	\$58,887	\$60,065	\$61,266	\$62,491	\$63,741	\$65,016	\$66,316	\$67,642
Organizer 3	\$63,000	\$64,260	\$65,545	\$66,856	\$68,193	\$69,557	\$70,948	\$72,367	\$73,814	\$75,290
Payroll and	ψ00,000	ψ04,200	ψ00,0 4 0	φ00,000	ψ00,100	φ00,007	ψ70,040	ψ72,007	\$70,014	ψ/0,200
Benefits										
Associate	\$49,900	\$50,898	\$51,916	\$52,954	\$54,013	\$55,093	\$56,195	\$57,319	\$58,465	\$59,634
Payroll and		1.272.2				1,				
Benefits										
Coordinator	\$63,500	\$64,770	\$66,065	\$67,386	\$68,734	\$70,109	\$71,511	\$72,941	\$74,400	\$75,888
Payroll Assistant	\$46,500	\$47,430	\$48,379	\$49,347	\$50,334	\$51,341	\$52,368	\$53,415	\$54,483	\$55,573
Payroll Assistant										
(Remote)	\$41,153	\$41,976	\$42,815	\$43,672	\$44,546	\$45,437	\$46,346	\$47,272	\$48,217	\$49,182
Political										
Assistant	\$61,900	\$63,138	\$64,401	\$65,689	\$67,003	\$68,343	\$69,710	\$71,104	\$72,526	\$73,977
Political										
Associate	\$72,300	\$73,746	\$75,221	\$76,725	\$78,260	\$79,825	\$81,422	\$83,050	\$84,711	\$86,405
Program										
Assistant	\$49,200	\$50,184	\$51,188	\$52,212	\$53,256	\$54,321	\$55,407	\$56,515	\$57,645	\$58,798
Program	¢c0.000	¢c1 000	¢c0 404	# CO C70	¢C4 045	#CC 044	¢07 500	¢c0.000	¢70.000	Φ 71 704
Associate Research and	\$60,000	\$61,200	\$62,424	\$63,672	\$64,945	\$66,244	\$67,569	\$68,920	\$70,298	\$71,704
Analytics										
Assistant	\$57,000	\$58,140	\$59,303	\$60,489	\$61,699	\$62,933	\$64,192	\$65,476	\$66,786	\$68,122
Research and	<i>\\</i>	<i></i>	400,000	400,100	<i></i>	<i></i>	\$01,102	400,170	<i><i><i>qccqrccc</i></i></i>	<i>vvvvvvvvvvvvvv</i>
Analytics										
Associate	\$64,100	\$65,382	\$66,690	\$68,024	\$69,384	\$70,772	\$72,187	\$73,631	\$75,104	\$76,606
Research and										
Analytics										
Manager	\$74,900	\$76,398	\$77,926	\$79,485	\$81,075	\$82,697	\$84,351	\$86,038	\$87,759	\$89,514
Research and										
Analytics	* • -- •••	* ~~ * ~~	*70500	A74.050	*-0 000	474.057	470.054	A77.004	ATO 100	\$ 04,000
Specialist	\$67,800	\$69,156	\$70,539	\$71,950	\$73,389	\$74,857	\$76,354	\$77,881	\$79,439	\$81,028
Senior Accountant	\$92 700	¢05 274	¢07.001	\$88,823	¢00 500	¢02 /11	\$94,259	¢06 144	¢09.067	¢100.029
Senior Campaign	\$83,700	\$85,374	\$87,081	<u>۵00,023</u>	\$90,599	\$92,411	φ94,209	\$96,144	\$98,067	\$100,028
Associate	\$80,900	\$82,518	\$84,168	\$85,851	\$87,568	\$89,319	\$91,105	\$92,927	\$94,786	\$96,682
Senior Campaign	<i>400,000</i>	Ψ <u></u> σ <u></u> 2,010	<i>404</i> ,100	<i>400,001</i>		<i>400,010</i>	401,100	<i>w02,021</i>	Ψ0 - ,700	<i>400,002</i>
Communications										
Specialist	\$93,100	\$94,962	\$96,861	\$98,798	\$100,774	\$102,789	\$104,845	\$106,942	\$109,081	\$111,263
Senior Campaign										
Manager	\$105,400	\$107,508	\$109,658	\$111,851	\$114,088	\$116,370	\$118,697	\$121,071	\$123,492	\$125,962
Senior Data										
Administrator	\$73,100	\$74,562	\$76,053	\$77,574	\$79,125	\$80,708	\$82,322	\$83,968	\$85,647	\$87,360
Senior Data and										
Analytics										
Manager	\$97,400	\$99,348	\$101,335	\$103,362	\$105,429	\$107,538	\$109,689	\$111,883	\$114,121	\$116,403

Senior										
Development										
Manager	\$81,200	\$82,824	\$84,480	\$86,170	\$87,893	\$89,651	\$91,444	\$93,273	\$95,138	\$97,041
Senior Digital										
Communications										
Organizer	\$76,500	\$78,030	\$79,591	\$81,183	\$82,807	\$84,463	\$86,152	\$87,875	\$89,633	\$91,426
Senior Media										
Outreach										
Specialist	\$71,900	\$73,338	\$74,805	\$76,301	\$77,827	\$79,384	\$80,972	\$82,591	\$84,243	\$85,928
Senior Office										
Manager	\$50,900	\$51,918	\$52,956	\$54,015	\$55,095	\$56,197	\$57,321	\$58,467	\$59,636	\$60,829
Senior Payroll										
and Benefits										
Manager	\$74,400	\$75,888	\$77,406	\$78,954	\$80,533	\$82,144	\$83,787	\$85,463	\$87,172	\$88,915
Senior Payroll										
and Operations										
Coordinator	\$68,300	\$69,666	\$71,059	\$72,480	\$73,930	\$75,409	\$76,917	\$78,455	\$80,024	\$81,624
Senior Political				*** ***			** * ** *			
Associate	\$83,500	\$85,170	\$86,873	\$88,610	\$90,382	\$92,190	\$94,034	\$95,915	\$97,833	\$99,790
Senior State	* 70.000	* **	* ***	* •••••	*•••••••••••••	* ~~ * ~~	* ~~ ~~~	404.005	*************	*•••••••••••••
Program Director	\$79,800	\$81,396	\$83,024	\$84,684	\$86,378	\$88,106	\$89,868	\$91,665	\$93,498	\$95,368
Senior Systems	* ~~ ~ ~~	* 74 004	A70 540	* 70.000	A75 445	#70.0F4	# 70.400	* ~~ ~~~	\$ 04.004	* ~~~~~~
Administrator	\$69,700	\$71,094	\$72,516	\$73,966	\$75,445	\$76,954	\$78,493	\$80,063	\$81,664	\$83,297
Senior Writer	\$93,300	\$95,166	\$97,069	\$99,010	\$100,990	\$103,010	\$105,070	\$107,171	\$109,314	\$111,500
State Program										
Coordinator	\$52,900	\$53,958	\$55,037	\$56,138	\$57,261	\$58,406	\$59,574	\$60,765	\$61,980	\$63,220
State Program										
Director	\$71,900	\$73,338	\$74,805	\$76,301	\$77,827	\$79,384	\$80,972	\$82,591	\$84,243	\$85,928
Strategic										
Projects										
Coordinator	\$78,800	\$80,376	\$81,984	\$83,624	\$85,296	\$87,002	\$88,742	\$90,517	\$92,327	\$94,174
Systems			+	4 a = a = -			+	.		.
Administrator	\$61,300	\$62,526	\$63,777	\$65,053	\$66,354	\$67,681	\$69,035	\$70,416	\$71,824	\$73,260
Writer	\$70,000	\$71,400	\$72,828	\$74,285	\$75,771	\$77,286	\$78,832	\$80,409	\$82,017	\$83,657

FOR ILLUSTRATION PURPOSES ONLY ACTUAL WAGES MAY VARY DEPENDING ON INDIVIDUAL UTILIZATION OF PAID TIME OFF AND TELEWORK

To help illustrate how wages as outlined in Appendix A above works in conjunction with daily supplemental pay in Article 12, Section 6, of this Collective Bargaining Agreement, consider the scenario below for:

- An employee based in Phoenix, Arizona;
- Does not earn overtime pay; and
- Who works 216 full days in the office (with the rest being holiday pay, vacation, sick, and / or telework).

<u>Please note that an employee actual supplemental pay earnings depends on their actual utilization</u> of paid time off and telework, in accordance with this Collective Bargaining Agreement.

	Base Wages	With Daily Supplemental Pay Based on Provided Scenario Above
Job Title	Step 1	Step 1
Administrative & Accounting Assistant	\$50,400	\$59,040
Administrative & Accounting Associate	\$56,800	\$65,440
Application Administrator	\$70,500	\$79,140
Assistant Data Administrator	\$65,800	\$74,440
Assistant Data Analyst	\$47,700	\$56,340
Campaign Communications Specialist	\$69,500	\$78,140
Data Assistant	\$39,700	\$48,340
Development and Administrative Assistant	\$48,700	\$57,340
Development Manager	\$79,000	\$87,640
Digital Assistant	\$61,700	\$70,340
Digital Communications Assistant	\$48,900	\$57,540
Digital Communications Associate	\$55,100	\$63,740
Digital Communications Specialist	\$71,700	\$80,340
Executive Administrative Assistant	\$67,600	\$76,240
Field Administrative Manager	\$66,700	\$75,340
Field Operations Assistant	\$41,700	\$50,340
Field Operations Specialist	\$62,200	\$70,840
Information Technology Assistant	\$56,700	\$65,340
Marketing and Outreach Associate - Member Benefits		
Associate	\$47,800	\$56,440
Media Outreach Specialist	\$56,600	\$65,240
National Recruitment Specialist	\$53,400	\$62,040
Office Manager	\$42,600	\$51,240

Office Manager (Bilingual)	\$46,860	\$55,500
Organizer 1	\$50,200	\$58,840
Organizer 1 (Remote)	\$45,180	N/A
Organizer 2	\$56,600	\$65,240
Organizer 3	\$63,000	\$71,640
Payroll and Benefits Associate	\$49,900	\$58,540
Payroll and Benefits Coordinator	\$63,500	\$72,140
Payroll Assistant	\$46,500	\$55,140
Payroll Assistant (Remote)	\$41,153	N/A
Political Assistant	\$61,900	\$70,540
Political Associate	\$72,300	\$80,940
Program Assistant	\$49,200	\$57,840
Program Associate	\$60,000	\$68,640
Research and Analytics Assistant	\$57,000	\$65,640
Research and Analytics Associate	\$64,100	\$72,740
Research and Analytics Manager	\$74,900	\$83,540
Research and Analytics Specialist	\$67,800	\$76,440
Senior Accountant	\$83,700	\$92,340
Senior Campaign Associate	\$80,900	\$89,540
Senior Campaign Communications Specialist	\$93,100	\$101,740
Senior Campaign Manager	\$105,400	\$114,040
Senior Data Administrator	\$73,100	\$81,740
Senior Data and Analytics Manager	\$97,400	\$106,040
Senior Development Manager	\$81,200	\$89,840
Senior Digital Communications Organizer	\$76,500	\$85,140
Senior Media Outreach Specialist	\$71,900	\$80,540
Senior Office Manager	\$50,900	\$59,540
Senior Payroll and Benefits Manager	\$74,400	\$83,040
Senior Payroll and Operations Coordinator	\$68,300	\$76,940
Senior Political Associate	\$83,500	\$92,140
Senior State Program Director	\$79,800	\$88,440
Senior Systems Administrator	\$69,700	\$78,340
Senior Writer	\$93,300	\$101,940
State Program Coordinator	\$52,900	\$61,540
State Program Director	\$71,900	\$80,540
Strategic Projects Coordinator	\$78,800	\$87,440
Systems Administrator	\$61,300	\$69,940
Writer	\$70,000	\$78,640

APPENDIX B: DOMESTIC PARTNER DEFINITION AND REQUIREMENTS

A domestic partner may be the same or opposite sex of the employee and must:

- 1. Have been in a committed relationship as a spouse equivalent of the employee for a minimum of one (1) year or have registered the partnership with a government of competent jurisdiction;
- 2. Have shared a legal residence with the employee for at least twelve (12) consecutive months;
- 3. Not be related to the employee by blood or marriage;
- 4. Not currently be in a marriage, civil union, or domestic partnership with another person; and
- 5. Be mutually responsible for each other both fiscally and legally (for example, have joint bank accounts, a joint lease or mortgage, joint liability or residential utilities, credit cards etc.)

The employee shall submit a statement to the Director of Administration affirming the above.

APPENDIX C: TRAVEL AND EXPENSE POLICY

This policy explains Working America's reimbursement policies for reasonable, necessary, and approved travel and other expenses incurred during the course of conducting business on behalf of Working America. Reimbursements must be submitted by employees within thirty (30) days of return of travel. Working America will make all reasonable efforts to pay reimbursements in the pay period within which they are submitted but payments will be made no later than the following pay period.

Employees are at all times expected to be good stewards of Working America's resources. Employees should arrange travel in such a manner as to minimize expenses as much as possible including combining trips, being flexible with scheduling, and using car rentals only when more cost effective than other available means of transportation.

Travel Expenses

When arranging business travel for Working America, travelers must adhere to the following guidelines.

Advance Approval

Employees must have all travel approved by their immediate supervisor prior to making any travel arrangements. Once all the information for travel has been entered in the Working America travel system, the itineraries will be sent to the employees' direct supervisor for approval via email. When the travel has been approved by the supervisor a confirmation email will be sent to the employee. The email will contain ticketing, lodging, and / or car rental information as requested.

Travel and Lodging

Whenever possible, all travel arrangements must be made at least fourteen (14) days prior to the date of travel except in extreme circumstances. Reservations made less than fourteen (14) days prior to travel are considered out of policy unless scheduling delays or short notice require it. Any out of policy travel requires approval of the Chief of Staff or their designee.

Travelers should use the online system and refrain from calling the travel agency as this will result in additional booking fees. All travelers will be assigned an account with the travel agent by the Accounting Department. Supervisors can make travel arrangements for infrequent travelers that do not have an assigned travel agent log- in.

All travel booked through Working America's travel agent will be charged to a Working America account. Within the travel system, efforts should be made to use union hotels and the Working America current contracted car rental company.

On out-of-town assignments, employees will be provided with secure housing at all times, and in no circumstances will employees be required to stay in housing shared with non-Working America staff, or in unsecured locations, unless mutually agreed upon by Working America and the Union.

All travelers will be responsible for arranging personal payment for hotel incidentals, such as mini bar, movies, room service, etc. Any citations received on a rented vehicle will be the responsibility of the renter. Documentation for charges to a personal credit card must be submitted to the Accounting Department. Expenses may be disallowed without proper documentation.

Use of Personal Car

Working America will reimburse for the use of personal vehicles according to the published IRS rate for business travel. Personal vehicles usage may only be reimbursed for travel if the mileage reimbursement is equal to or less than the cost of traveling by air, rail, or rental vehicle.

Working America will reimburse for the use of personal vehicles for business related trips within an employee's home office metropolitan area, such as attending a meeting away from the office. Personal vehicle usage may only be reimbursed if the cost is equal to or less than using alternative transportation such as public transportation, unused crew vans or taxi. The cost of parking should be included when determining the most cost effective means of transportation.

Under no circumstances will Working America reimburse for an employee's commute between home and their primary workplace. When travel to the primary workplace is not the destination, such as trips to and from the airport or directly to a meeting, Working America will reimburse for actual miles driven less the commute to and from home to the primary workplace.

Taxis

When public transportation is not available, and employees need to utilize taxis in the course of business or travel, they will be reimbursed the cost of the fare plus a reasonable tip.

Parking/Tolls

Travelers will be reimbursed for parking and toll expenses, including charges for hotel parking while on business travel. Airport parking for personal vehicles while traveling will be reimbursed providing the most economical parking available is utilized. The cost of parking and other related expenses should be considered when deciding to rent a car while on travel or to utilize other forms of transportation to and from the departing airport.

Special Business Expense

Employees, such as Organizers, shall be reimbursed from petty cash for expenses associated with the purchase of nominal food and/or beverages when meeting with members for the purpose of member development. The reimbursement entitlement shall be up to a maximum of ten (\$10) dollars per meeting.

Ownership of Frequent Traveler Miles and Hotel Rewards

Frequent flyer miles and other bonuses accrued during travel are the property of the traveler. Employees must use the most economical travel options without regard to these programs.

Per Diem

Per Diem will be paid when on assignments no less than one hundred (100) miles away from a traveler's home or when an assignment otherwise requires overnight lodging.

Per Diem is meant to cover meals, tips and other incidental travel expenses not otherwise reimbursable. Receipts are not required to account for per diem and expenses that per diem covers should not be submitted for reimbursement if charged to a personal credit card.

In cases when it is a financial hardship for an employee to pay up front expenses which per diem covers, on extended trips of more than five (5) days, employees can request a cash advance for the days they are scheduled to receive per diem provided that such request is submitted at least one (1) calendar week in advance of the first day of scheduled travel.

Per diem shall be paid as follows:

\$40 for: (a) the day of departure, if departing after 12:00 p.m., and the day of return travel, if landing before 7:00 p.m.; (b) days any meal is provided; and (c) if a kitchen is provided for stays of seven (7) days or more

\$65 for each full travel day and day spent on out-of-town assignments

Home Visits While on Extended Assignments

If an employee is assigned to a temporary out-of-town assignment of five (5) or more consecutive weeks, they shall be entitled to reimbursement of travel expenses for one weekend return trip home per each 5-week period on an out-of-town assignment.

Employees may book their travel through Working America's travel agent as long as their routing is between the out-of-town assignment and their home office. Whenever possible, all travel arrangements must be made at least 14 days prior to the date of travel except in extreme circumstances.

If, while on an out-of-town assignment, a traveler is staying at a hotel that charges a nightly rate, they must check out of the hotel before leaving, and check back in upon returning. If the hotel or residence charges a weekly or monthly rate, it is not necessary to check out.

Employees may elect to have another individual travel to the employee's assignment location in lieu of the home visit at Working America's expense.

Employees may also elect an allowance of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) in lieu of any of the above.

APPENDIX D: RELOCATION EXPENSE POLICY

Eligibility

The policy outlined in this section applies to Guild Employees (hereafter "employees") who, at the request of Working America, are relocated to a new office location that is at least fifty (50) miles further from the employee's former home than the former job location was from their former home.

Relocation Expenses

Working America shall pay transportation and travel expenses, and issue a stipend to be used for temporary living, meals and finding housing accommodations near the new office location.

Transportation Expenses

Working America will advance the cost of pre-approved reasonable transportation expenses related to transporting the employee's household goods and personal effects from their current residence near their current office location to a new residence near the new office location up to a maximum of four thousand dollars (\$4,000). Allowable expenses include packing, loading, transporting, unloading, and unpacking household goods; storage up to thirty (30) days after vacating your home but prior to occupying a new home at the new office location.

Travel Expenses

In addition to transportation expenses, Working America will advance to the employee the cost of their pre-approved travel expenses to the new office location. Travel expenses include one of the following:

mileage (calculated at the current IRS reimbursement rate) if the employee drives their car to the new office location; or

reasonable train or bus fare; or

if the new office location is 400 or more miles from the current office location, reasonable airfare.

All travel expenses (except airfare) require that the employee submit an estimate of costs to their supervisor and the Director of Administration. See the discussion on airfare in the "Applying for Relocation Expenses" section below.

Stipend

Working America will provide a one-time relocation stipend of two thousand, five hundred dollars (\$2,500), which is a reasonable estimate of expenses to cover temporary living, meals, and finding housing accommodations near the new office location. The relocation stipend is taxable. The stipend will be processed when the transportation and travel expense estimates have been approved.

No Housing Assistance

Employees are expected to arrange their own housing accommodations as quickly as possible when relocating to a new assignment without assistance from Working America.

Applying for Relocation Expenses

When employees are asked to relocate to a new office, they become eligible to receive relocation expenses. To get the process started, employees must submit estimates for their transportation expenses, up to the two thousand, five hundred dollars (\$2,500) advance allowed. In addition, they must submit the following for travel expenses:

- Mileage—an estimate of the miles between their current residence and the new office location. Submit a Google map or similar mileage estimate. The mileage reimbursement will be calculated at the current IRS reimbursement rate.
- Train or bus fare—an estimate of train or bus fare using the appropriate provider's website.
- Airfare—Airfare will be advanced through an e-ticket issued through Working America's travel agent. The employee shall advise their supervisor of their dates of travel at least fourteen (14) days prior to departure. The supervisor will book the Employee's airline ticket using Working America's travel agent and forward the itinerary/e-ticket directly to the employee.

All transportation and travel expense estimates must be submitted to the appropriate supervisor and the Director of Administration at a minimum of five (5) business days prior to your move date.

The Supervisor and Director of Administration will review the estimates for eligible transportation and travel expenses and, upon approval, authorize Accounting to process a check request in that amount made payable to the employee.

In addition to the transportation and travel expenses, employees shall also receive a one-time relocation stipend of two thousand, five hundred dollars (\$2,500) made payable to the employee. This check shall automatically be issued when the transportation and travel expenses are processed.

Post-Move Submission of Expenses Incurred

After the move, employees are responsible for submitting documentation of their transportation and travel expenses to the Director of Administration within fifteen (15) business days of the move date. The employee shall submit actual receipts for the transportation and travel expenses incurred and shall reimburse Working America, within thirty (30) days of the move date, for any overage between the advance of transportation and travel expenses to the employee and the actual costs incurred. If the employee does not advise Working America in writing within thirty (30) days of the move date that they will make payment for the amount of overage, Working America will deduct the overage from the employee's wages, bonuses, or other monies due the employee in each of the following two payroll periods. If the actual transportation and travel expenses incurred are greater than the advance issued, the employee may submit additional expenses to Working America for consideration. Under no circumstances shall the total transportation expenses paid to employee exceed \$2,500, including any amount(s) advanced.

Taxes

Reimbursement of expenses associated with transportation and travel from the former residence to the new residence are taxable. Those expenses will be reported and will appear on the Employee's W-2 form as taxable income. The stipend is reported as income and taxes are withheld at the time the check is issued.

Repayment upon early termination of employment

Any employee who voluntarily terminates their employment with Working America or is terminated for misconduct within 6 months after their relocation date is required to repay a prorata share of all relocation expenses reimbursed by Working America (including Transportation expenses, Travel expenses and the Stipend). No repayment is required where an employee's termination is the result of an office closing or job elimination.

The pro-rata share will be determined based on the number of months of service the employee served, as calculated from the payment of relocation benefits (including Transportation expenses, Travel expenses and the Stipend). The pro rata share formula is expressed as:

 $\frac{\text{number of full months served}}{\text{six months}} x 100$

By example, if an employee receives their relocation benefits on February 15, and terminates their employment with Working America on June l their number of full months served is three months, and the employee will be responsible for reimbursing 50% of the Transportation expenses, Travel expenses and the Stipend to Working America.

The reimbursement owed Working America will be deducted from the employee's final paycheck.

APPENDIX E: WORKING AMERICA TELEWORK POLICY

Working America's Telework Policy allows staff to fulfill their job duties and responsibilities by securely working from home or another alternative worksite on an occasional basis.

Teleworking is an alternative to working at your job site. Working America shall approve teleworking within the parameters of this policy where it is reasonable and practical to do so and where operational needs will not be adversely affected. Working America reserves the right to decide where such need is reasonable.

Working America has the right to decline approval of any particular telework request because the job duties are not suitable for telework, or on the basis of operational need, or for performance reasons. The reason for a decision to decline approval of telework shall be communicated in writing from the supervisor to the employee, and where requested, reviewed by the Management Relations Committee.

Accruals and Balances

Employees will receive a pro-rated portion of the following annual telework accruals at the beginning of each calendar year:

- 21 telework days if they have less than two years of service with Working America, of which up to 8 days may be used during their probationary period;
- 42 telework days if they have two or more years of service with Working America.

The Chief of Staff may also grant additional telework days, upon request, to employees who have completed their probationary period where consistent with operational need within the calendar year.

Telework may be used in hourly increments.

Unused telework hours do not carryover at the end of the calendar year.

Telework Bank

A telework donation bank shall be maintained by the Employer for use by employees who meet the criteria for telework but who have exhausted all accrued telework hours. All deposits to, or withdrawals from, this bank shall be in whole hour increments. Employees may donate any whole hour increments of accrued and unused telework to the telework bank. If an employee separates for any reason prior to the last day of a calendar year, the donation from the employee will be reduced by the prorated number of whole telework hours proportionate the length of time served as a fraction of the full calendar year. Donated telework hours shall expire at the end of the calendar year in which the hours were donated. The Bargaining Unit members will administer the telework donation bank requests and may award an individual of the bargaining unit telework hours from the bank balance in whole hour increments. Upon request by the Union, the Director of Administration will inform the Union of the balance in the donation bank. The Union will notify the Director of Administration when the Bargaining Unit members award employees sick leave from the donation bank.

The procedure for requests, employee responsibilities, and other provisions of the Telework Policy shall apply.

Eligibility

To be eligible to use telework employees must:

- Have no record of performance problems;
- Have no verbal warnings within the preceding four (4) months, and / or written warnings and / or suspensions within the preceding six (6) months;
- Have job duties suitable to a teleworking arrangement, as determined by their supervisor;
- Comply with the telework policy; and
- Have demonstrated the ability to work independently.

Not all positions or situations are suitable for teleworking and teleworking requests will not be automatically granted. Examples of situations which may not be suitable for telework include, but are not limited to:

- Work that requires contact with goods such as shipping computers to field offices or the provision of computer hardware services;
- Responsibilities that require a physical presence in a Working America office or at meetings;
- Activities that require accessing information which cannot be data secured;
- Work that deals with sensitive or confidential data such as personnel or payroll records.

Examples of functional responsibilities suitable for telework include, but are not limited to: Reading, writing and editing, preparing presentations, data entry, phone/conference calls, online research, data analysis, secure IT software support.

Approvals

Scheduling of telework days should be made by request to an employee's supervisor via the PTO system at least 48 hours in advance. Pre-scheduled, as well as emergency requests, shall be considered by the employee's supervisor on a case-by-case basis and shall not be unreasonably denied. Approvals shall be communicated by the supervisor as soon as practicable.

Considerations for approval will include the functions to be performed; how much time the employee will be spending teleworking; the employee's overall work performance history; and the impact on Working America and the employee's workplace responsibilities, among other things.

Telework requests

Unless previously agreed upon by their supervisor and department director, prior to the scheduled telework day (or, for emergency telework approved on the same day, in conjunction with the request for approval), the employee will send their supervisor a brief email outlining the work the employee expects to accomplish during the telework day. The email shall not be used as a condition of approval. At the end of the telework day, the employee will follow up with an email to the supervisor itemizing the work that was accomplished on the telework day.

Compensation and Work Hours

The employee's pay, benefits, work status and work responsibilities will not change as a result of telework. The hours and amount of time the employee is expected to work per day will not change as a result of participating in the teleworking program. The work hours will be the same as a normal, core work day unless the supervisor and employee agree otherwise and that agreement is consistent with operational need.

Job Responsibilities

The employee's job responsibilities will not change due to teleworking. All Working America requests for acknowledgement are expected to be responded to promptly. The supervisor and employee will agree on the manner, timing and frequency of communication during the telework day.

Work Area

Working America shall provide workers' compensation and liability protection as obligated by State statutes for the employee while in the course of employment within the agreed upon location and defined telework schedule. Working America assumes no responsibility for any activity, damages, or injury which are not directly associated or resulting from the official job duties for which it has no ability to exercise control. Working America assumes no responsibility for the employee's personal property. The employee agrees to maintain appropriate safety practices during the time teleworked.

Employee Responsibilities

- a) Work and telework equipment such as reliable high-quality Internet access, phone, computer, fax, or other agreed upon communications, shall be owned and maintained by the employee unless otherwise provided for in this policy. In addition, they must meet current minimum specifications (which may include but is not limited to operating systems, applications, software, security /anti-virus and means of connectivity). The employee must also provide internet and telephone services with call waiting access in their alternate work site at their own expense. Employees are welcome to use the equipment provided to them by Working America provided that they are able to securely transport the equipment from and to the office and maintain it in good working condition.
- b) Employees must be available by phone at an agreed upon contact number and they must communicate to all staff that they are in a telework status.
- c) It is the employee's responsibility to anticipate and make any logistical arrangements desirable to allow them to effectively communicate with co-workers and others and to participate fully in all job responsibilities.

- d) Throughout the duration of the telework assignment, an employee must use reasonable caution, procedures and equipment that maintain data storage and transmission security. Restricted access materials (such as payroll, personnel files, financial or legal documents etc.) may not be taken out of the office, copied, or compromised in any way.
- e) Employees working at alternate sites will take all precautions necessary to secure all sensitive, proprietary and confidential information and prevent unauthorized access.
- f) Employee expenses not specifically covered in this policy may be approved on a case-bycase basis by the employee's supervisor. Under no circumstances will incidental costs, such as residential utility costs, cleaning, computer or phone repair, internet, phone access etc. be the responsibility of Working America.
- g) Employees who telework will manage personal responsibilities in a way that allows them to successfully meet their job responsibilities.
- h) Employee tax implications related to alternate work locations are the responsibility of the employee. Employees should consult with a qualified tax professional to discuss income tax implications, if any.

Grievance and Arbitration

The Telework Policy and / or all applicable provisions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement as it relates to telework shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures under Article 20 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

APPENDIX F: WORKING AMERICA REMOTE WORK POLICY

Working America's Remote Work Policy allows staff to fulfill their job duties and responsibilities by securely working from an approved alternative worksite within a preapproved county and state that is not owned or leased by Working America, and may be, among other options, an employee's residence. Remote work is not an employee entitlement but rather a workplace flexibility that may be available to employees with approval from the employee's Department Director and the Chief of Staff.

Remote workplace arrangements are not a substitute for child care or dependent care. A remote work arrangement is voluntary and based on mutual agreement between an employee and their Department Director, with approval from the Chief of Staff.

Initiation Process

Employees interested in consideration for a remote workplace arrangement shall make the request with their supervisor, their Department Director, and the Chief of Staff. After a request for consideration is received, the Chief of Staff will assess organizational needs and employee eligibility. An employee will be notified of a decision on whether they are eligible for a remote workplace arrangement within twenty (20) working days of their request.

Considerations

Considerations for suitability for remote work include but are not limited to:

- The extent to which the job requires face-to-face or in person interaction with other people, both internal and external to Working America;
- The nature and extent of in-person supervisory or training requirements relevant to the position;
- The nature and extent of security requirements relevant to the position (e.g. sensitive or confidential data is involved and cannot be data secured);
- The need for access to resources that are only available in a Working America office;
- Employee's past performance and history of discipline, if any;
- Continual demonstration of the ability to sufficiently perform the duties of the position under a Remote Work Arrangement;
- Regulatory or legal issues involved in a remote work site in the desired location;
- The position is classified as FLSA exempt; and
- Operational needs of Working America.

Worksite Location

Once a remote work arrangement has been approved by the Chief of Staff, the employee will select their alternative worksite within the United States that is not owned or leased by Working America, and may be, among other options, an employee's residence. The selection may be made upon approval of the remote work arrangement and may be changed from time to time with approval from the Chief of Staff. The worksite selection will be submitted by the employee within two (2) working days. The selection will be reviewed and approved by the Chief of Staff within three (3) working days of submission.

Equipment

The Chief of Staff will detail the minimum equipment required for the remote position. Working America may provide a laptop computer and additional equipment at its sole option and where required by law. Any equipment provided by Working America will be detailed in writing. Upon termination of the remote work arrangement or the employee's employment (whichever occurs first), the employee shall be responsible for returning all Working America equipment within five (5) working days. Working America will provide shipping labels and materials for the employee or reimburse the employee for the costs associated with returning the equipment.

The employee must ensure that the work location provides for consistent high quality Internet connection sufficient to support remote working, including video conferencing, data access, and other technically demanding applications. Working America will assist the employee with the installation of Working America required software and technical support.

Working America will not be responsible for remote worksite expenses such as rent, heat, air conditioning, water, electricity, insurance, Internet access, and computer equipment, except where required by law.

Working America shall provide workers' compensation and liability protection as obligated by State statutes for the employee while in the course of employment within the agreed upon location and schedule. Working America assumes no responsibility for any activity, damages, or injury which are not directly associated or resulting from the official job duties for which it has no ability to exercise control. Working America assumes no responsibility for the employee's personal property. The employee agrees to maintain appropriate safety practices throughout the remote work arrangement.

Compensation and Benefits

Remote work positions are lower in grade than its in-person equivalents and have separate job descriptions from its equivalent in-person positions. Working America and the Union recognize that the job descriptions reflect the omission of in-person duties as well as certain duties that cannot be performed remotely and / or are performed less effectively, and as such are compensated at a minimum of five percent (5%) to a maximum of fifteen percent (15%) below the base wage as set for equivalent in-person positions as defined in Appendix A.

Employee tax implications related to remote work locations are the responsibility of the employee. Employees should consult with a qualified tax professional to discuss income tax implications, if any.

Travel

An employee in a remote work arrangement may be required to travel to fulfill their duties and responsibilities.

Where the travel is related to the duties and responsibilities of the position, the employee's travel will be covered by the Working America travel and expense policy.

Probation and Revocation

Employees moving from an in-person position into a remote work arrangement shall enter into a probationary period of four (4) months. The probationary period for remote work will run consecutive to the probationary period for employees as defined in Article 4 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Remote work arrangements may be revoked at any time with one (1) calendar month's notice except when revoked for performance reasons. Notice for revocation of remote work arrangements for performance reasons shall be ten (10) days excluding weekends. As long as the arrangement is not revoked for performance reasons, the employee may choose to retain their position with Working America by reporting to a Working America office location within this time period subject to the Relocation Expense Policy. Revocation of remote work is not subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions under Article 20 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement, except in cases in which employment is terminated.

Side Letters

- 1. Management agrees to meet with the Unit on career onboarding and development.
- 2. Management agrees to meet with the Unit to develop a framework for coverage plans to be used for instances in which Unit members, or individuals who supervise Unit members, are scheduled to be out on extended leave whenever practicable.
- 3. Employer shall award each employee who is a member of the Bargaining Unit at the time this Agreement is ratified and signed a one-time bonus in the amount of five hundred dollars (\$500). The bonus will be paid on the pay period following the execution of Collective Bargaining Agreement.